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About API

APl enhances the visual appeal of products and
packaging; helping our customers to communicate
brand values and authenticity.

APl 1s a leading manufacturer and distnbuter of foils, films and laminates used to enhance
the visual appeal of consumer products and packaging and to communicate brand values and
authentiaty

Operating from a global network of manufacturing and distribution facilities, APl supplies
printers, converters and manufacturers with matenals to meet the requirements of brand owners
and specifiers in the food, confectionery & beverage sectors, as well as personal care & beauty,
tobacco, media, electronic goods, textiles & leather goods, government and financial services
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Headlines

14% growth In revenues to £113 9m
(2011 £100 Om)

Operating profits advanced by 32% to
£69m (2011 £52m)

Improved results at Holographics

(+£1 Om)}, Foils Americas (+£0 9m) and
Laminates {(+£0 5m} Profits at Foils
Europe declined by £0 5m

Profit before tax increased by 77% to
£51Tm (2011 £2 9m)

Basic earnings per share of 6 7 pence
{2011 3 5 pence)

IAS 19 pension deficit (net of deferred
tax) down by £0 7m 1o £6 5m

Cash flow from operating activities
£8 7m (2011 £8 5m)

Net debt down to £3 6m compared to
£8 5m at March 2011

Increased capital investment, with
additions of £3 5m (2011 £1 2m)

Shareholders’ funds increased by £6 Om
(39%) to £21 3m

Installation of the new lammator
completed to schedule in Apnl,
shipments for the new supply contract
expected from late June

Revenue*
(£'000)

79,192

10

Operating
profit*
(£'000)

3,266

Profit before
tax™*
(£'000)

{338)

-
<

Net debt
(£'000)

18,527

10

* from continuing operations

99,963

11

5,194

11

2,857

8,511

113,935

12

5,878

12

5,059

12

3,587
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Visual Enhancement

In an increasingly fast

moving retail environment, visual
impact 1s everything Competing
brands, n-store offers and hmited

time for decisions make 1t vital

that packaging i1s eye-catching,

appeahling and relevant to the

product it contains

02

API's metallic, holographic and
lenticular matenals add an extra
dimension to product packaging,

lifing brands above the noise,

Inviting consumers to take a
closer look and reinforcing brand
values during everyday handling
and use

WWW apIgroup com
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Authentication Solutions

With best estimates suggesting
that the market for counterfert

goods could be as much as 10% of all
world trade and the implications of

identity fraud never greater, the
need to venfy the authenticity

of products, documents and people

15 a growing challenge facng
today's society

Across a broad range of
applhications and product sectors,
holographic technology remains the
authentication solution of choice because
it works at so many levels By combining
overt and covert features in an easily
recognisable, durable and affordable
format, the security hologram appeals to
trained professionals in the distribution
chain, enforcement authorities
and consumers alike

Stock symbol APl

As well as providing a techmical
authentication solution, a
hologram can be a particularly
effective element of a
coordinated marketing strategy
to reinforce consumer preference
for genuine as opposed to
counterfeit merchandise
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Authentication solutions
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Key Sectors

Drinks
with historical hinks through the
Laminates division and an important foil
manufacturing presence in Scotland, APl's
strong presence n the alcoholic drinks sector i1s
founded on its leading supply position with the
Scottish Whisky industry Foils for wine labels,
caps and collars are supplied through a network
of wholly owned distnbution operations in key
growing areas around the world — France, Italy,
South Austraha, New Zealand and Califorma, and
API Holographics provides duty and
hentage stamps for the collection of
government tax revenues on hquor and
the protection of premium brands
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Tobacco
With severe restrictions on tobacco
advertising and promotion, the role
of packaging in communicating brand
values could not be more important Clear
market leadership in Europe founded on
relationships with all major industry players
going back more than forty years means that
APl 1s the partner of choice for laminated
matenals used in tobacco packaging Foils
supplied to printers for cartons and tipping
papers are approved to the most stringent
standards for qualhty and chermical
compliance and APl Holographics has
a growing position with national
state printers for tax stamps



APt Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2012

Perfumery, cosmetics
& personal care
innovation and quality are the keys to
success In the crowded personal care and
beauty sector API's collaborative approach
to working with brand owners and printers
makes all the difference 1n delivering new
finishes and effects to crizcal timescales on
brand launches and redesigns
API's international distribution network
then takes over to ensure the
packaging designs are replicated to
exacting standards at printers
around the world

Stock symbal APl

Document security
As a long-standing suppler of
authentication solutions with impeccable
credentials, in a fast moving and highly
fragmented industry, APl Holographics 1s one
of only a handful of industry players who can
claim to possess the ‘substance behind the
secunty’ Ongination know-how which can
be traced back to the earliest development of
holographic techmgues in the 1970s and foils
technolagy developed for the most demanding
of multi-use applications such as bank notes,
finanaal and 1dentity cards come together at
APY's security accredited manufactuning
operation in Salford to make a convinang
proposition for chents who demand
the most trusted supply
partners
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Chairman’s Statement

Richard Wright

Against a background of weak economic conditions affecting most
end markets, APl 1s pleased to report another year of significant
improvement in financial performance With debt substantially
reduced and positive momentum in sales and profits, the Group has
further strengthened its platform for future investment and growth

Sales for the year ended 31 March 2012 of £113 9m were 14% ahead
of the previous 12 month penod, operating profits increased by 32%
to £6 9 (2011 £5 2m) and profit before tax rose 77% to £5 1m
(2011 £2 9m) Basic earnings per share of 6 7p advanced by 3 2p and
net debt fimshed the year at £3 6m compared to £8 5m a year earlier
Despite the adverse impact of exceptionally low bond yields, the 1AS
pension deficit fell by £0 7m to £6 5m, net of deferred tax

While Laminates remains the most significant contnbutor to Group
results, year-on-year profit improvement was driven by three of the
four business units Holographics performed particularly strongly on
the back of growth in target security markets, registering a £1 Om
increase In profits, Foils Amenicas benefited from an improved sales
mix and lower costs to record profits £0 9m ahead of last year and
Laminates delivered another excellent performance, with profits up by
£0 5m on 24% higher sales Foils Europe profits were down by £0 5m
as recovering margins were offset by weaker volumes, especially in the
second half In due course, the Board expects results to benefit from
the increased focus brought about by the recent establishment of
separate management teams for Foils Europe and Holographics

As reported last year, a key challenge facing the business was the
short supply and surge in pricing of key raw matenals The situation s
now much improved with the supply-demand balance re-estabhshed
1In most material categories new sources of supply approved and, for
the most part, residual cost increases passed through to customers

in higher selling prices It 15 greatly encouraging that the Group has
been able to weather a period of such volatiity in raw matenal costs
and that all businesses enter the new financial year with marging
substantially restored to previous levels

Increased Group operating profits converted to strong cash flow with
a corresponding reductton in net debt Year end net debt to EBITDA
was down to 0 4% (2011 1 1X), the healthiest Group financial
positron for at least a decade With the confidence of a stronger
balance sheet, the Board has been able to approve a number of
capital expenditure projects aimed especially at improving the level
and resilience of earnings in the Laminates and Holographics units
The Board will continue to exarmine options for growih orniented
capital investment whilst mantaining a conservative stance towards
levels of debt

Shareholders

In February 2012, the Group’s two leading Shareholders wrote to the
Board proposing that a sale process be commenced with the am of
securing a general offer for the 1ssued share capital of API Group plc

Following discussions with these and other large Shareholders and
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after due consideration, the Board 1ssued a statement on 30 March
2012 advising that, barring unforeseen events, such a process would
be explored during the third calendar quarter of 2012

Dividend

In hght of the Group’s improved financial position, the Board now has
greater flewibility in assessing the options for use of funds At this time
payment of a dividend 1s not being recommended but the Board will
continue to keep 1ts policy under review with the aim of maxmising
returns for shareholders

Board and Governance

There have been no changes to the compoesition of the Board since
the last Annual Report The Board and its Commuttees have functioned
well throughout the year In particular, | would like to thank the
Directors norminated by our two leading Shareholders for therr support
duning consideration of the sale proposals referred to above

Our People

On behalf of the Board, 1 must thank all the Group’s employees
for their nvaluable contribution to the achievements of the last
12 months and the continued progress of the business in the face
of such challenging economi¢ conditions

Outlook

The Board remains cautiously optimistic about the Group's prospects
for the new financial year The general economic cimate and
uncertainty surrounding the Euro continues to impact consumer
confidence and economic growth in the regions and markets served
by APl However, end markets for premium products which dnive a
significant proporiion of sales have so far proved relatively resihent

As the Group enters the new financial year, Larminates volumes remain
buoyant on its existing core business and, with installation of the new
laminator completed to schedule in April, shipments against the new
muly year supply contract are expected to commence from late June

In the Foils businesses, order levels are steady in most sectars with
potential for addional metalhised pigment revenues in the US
Holographics 1s continuing to make progress In secunty rnarkets
offsetting the lower inter-company sales following the end of 3
significant Joint project with Larminates

Qverall, the outlock on volumes and a full year benefit
from pnicing action taken dunng 2011/12 to

recover increased raw matenal costs

underpin the Board s confidence in the

Group making further progress in the

coming year

Richard C Wright
Chairman
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Business Review

Andrew Turner & Chns Smith

It I1s encouraging to note that profits
improved in three of the Group's
four business units

Group Operating Results

Group revenues for the 12 months to March 2012 were £113 9m
an increase of 14 2% at constant exchange rates compared to

the previous reporting period (14 0% at actual exchange rates}

All business units recarded increases in revenues, with Laminates
{+23 7%} and Holographics (+20 8%) having a particularly strong
year The Foils businesses saw generally weak end markets but
achieved increased sales revenues due to improved product mix and
higher selling prices

Operating profits increased by £1 7m or 32 4% to £6 9m
(2011 £5 2m) with operating margins at 6 0% compared to 5 2%
{or the previous 12 months

Three of the Group's four business units increased operating profits
Holographics (+£1 Om} made excellent progress in growing sales in
its target security markets, Foils Amencas (+£0 9m) emjoyed strong
demand for tts metallic pigment product and benefited {rom lower
operating costs and Laminates (+£0 5m) built on the previous year's
growth in the tobacco and personal care sectors Margins in all
businesses have now returned to more acceptable tevels following
the significant raw maternal cost increases expenenced (n late
2010/early 2011

The Group's second half perfarmance was shightly weaker than the
preceding six months of 2011/12, although sales and operating profit
were still ahead of the second half of 2010/11 by 4 2% and 14 7%
respectively (at constant exchange rates)

07
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Business Review

continued

Laminates

API Laminates produced another very strong year for the Group with
sales of £54 8m, 24% higher than the preceding year (£44 3m) and
just less than double the level reported 1in 2010 {£28 Om) Increased
allocauon of brand owner marketing spend towards higher added
value packaging designs led to growth in demand across the business’
three key market sectors Revenues in pan-European tobacco
increased 45 9%, health & beauty was ahead by 35 4% and alcoholic
drinks maintained the high levels of actvity experienced in 2010/11
Approximately 7% of sales growth was accounted for by the partial
pass-through of higher input costs relating to specification changes and
increased matenal prices, leaving underfying volumes ahead by 17 3%

Contribution from higher volumes was diluted by some absorption

of input cost increases on certain long term customer contracts plus
supply chain inefficiencies expenenced in the middle of the year
connected with a new product launch Nevertheless, other costs were
ughtly controlled and operating profits advanced by £0 S5miio £5 7m,
representing an operating margin of 10 4%

Instaliation of the new lamination machine at Laminates’ Poynton
manufacturing site was effecuvely managed, with mimimal disruption
to ongoing operattons  Signtficant progress was made establishing
the raw material supply chain and qualfying the fimished product for
the new customer supply contract Volumes are expected to come on
stream towards the end of the first quarter of the new financial year

Revenue Operating
(£7000) profit
(£'000)
3
g
10 11 12 10 1 12
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Holographics

Revenue Operating
(£'000) profit
(£'000)
g ¢
* o
10 11 12 10 11 12

Helographics sales demonstrated strong year-on-year improvement,
ending the penod 20 8% higher at £13 Om (2011 £10 8m} The
business delivered growth of 37 4% n 1ts target segments of security,
ID and product authentication assisted by continued nvestment in
sales & marketing and increased management focus Intra-Group
sales of decorative holographic preducts were flat year-on-year, with
the second half weaker than the first as a significant film supply
arrangement with Larminates came to an end

Production costs and overheads
increased to support the growth in
securnity sales However,

the richer business mix and improved
recovery of fixed costs resulted in
operating profits £1 Om ahead at

£1 6m with an operating margin of
12 4%
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Foils Europe

The Foils Europe business made imited progress in the penod as the
expected recovery in margins from higher prices was offset by lower
volumes, especially in the second half Full year sales of £29 2m were
2 6% ahead of last year (1 5% at constant exchange rates) However,
after accounting for the pass-through of material costs in higher
selling prices, volumes were down 8 3%, leaving sales contribution
broadly flat On a regtonal basss, sales performance was mixed, with
growth in ltaly and Australia more than offset by weakness in France,
the UK and key export markets in Eastern Europe, Middle East and
Africa Operating costs were higher by £0 4m due to increased selling
expenses and poor matching of production costs to demand The
hugher costs combined with flal year-on-year sales contribution led 1o
a fall in operating profit to £0 4m compared with £0 9m in 201011

The establishment of a separate management team for Foils Europe
was completed during the final quarter of the financial year and 1s
focused on overhauling the service proposition, drving sales growth
and akgning costs to volumes Duning May 2012, a new sales and
distnbution hub commenced operations in Warsaw, Poland

Revenue Operating
(£'000) profit
(£'000)
10 1 12 10 1N 12

Stock symbol APl

Foils Americas

Revenue Operating
(£'000) profit
(£'000)
g & K -
q ~
g
%
g
10 N 12 10 1 12

Folls Americas” sales of £23 4m were 3 6% ahead of prior year at
constant exchange rates and 1 3% ahead at actual rates The busmess
benefited from healthy orders for its metallic pigment intermediary

{+30 8%} and some recovery In the greeting card segment Nevertheless,
weak demand from the general graphics and packaging sectors and an
exit from a number of low margin accounts ied to a decline in overall
volumes by 7 6%, albest on a signidicantly improved mix

Higher selling prices and favourable sales mix compensated for lower
volumes to leave sales contribution broadly unchanged year-on-year
Operating costs were lower by £0 9m driven by more effective use of
coating capacity across the two locations and lower general expenses
The resulting full year profit was £0 9m ahead of 2010711 at £1 Zm
representing an operating margin of 5 0%

In August 2011, the Fails Amenicas’ New Jersey manufacturing facility
suffered severe flocding as a result of Hurricane lrene Management
and staff worked tirelessly to bring preduction back on stream

within Just a few days and, despite signsficant damage to stock and
facilities, customers were spared any significant disruption to supplies
Insurance policies ensured that losses incurred as a result of the
incident were settled with mimimal impact on the Group’s ncome
statement and cash position

09

Authentication solutions

Our Governance Qur Business

Qur Financials



APl Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2012

Business Review

continued

Central Costs

Full year central costs were up £0 3m, including £0 1m relating to the
Board's consideration of options n response to certain Shareholder
actions, reorganisation costs of £0 1m and exchange losses of £0 1m

Discontinued Operations

In January 2011, the Group disposed of its 51% ownership

In Shanghai Shen Yong Stamping Foil Co Limited Prior year
comparatives disclosed in the financial statements include the results
of the China subsidiary as a fully consohdated entity but classified
under discontinued operations

Further details are provided in Note 7 to the financial statements

Impairment
The Board considers that no impairments to goodwill or asset carrying
values are necessary

Finance Costs

For the year ended 31 March 2012, net finance costs fell £0 5m

1o £1 8m Rnanang costs relating to the Group’s bank borrowings
reduced by £0 3m, compnsing lower interest charges of £0 4m partly
offset by an increase of £0 1m relating to facility fee charges Pension
finance costs fell £0 2m as a result of a lower non-cash pension
charge (£0 4m) but higher running costs for PPF levy and investment
advisory fees Further details are prowded in Note 17 to the financeal
statements

Taxation

For the year to 31 March 2012, net taxation of £0 1m has been
charged to the tncome statement This compares to a net tax charge
of £0 3m for the previous 12 months

The Group continues to benefit from accumulated tax losses in the UK
and USA A deferred tax charge of £1 5m (2011 £1 1m) principally on
UK profits has been balanced by a deferred tax credit of £1 5m (2011
£1 0m) pnmarnly from increased tax loss recognition relating to Foils
Americas’ recent improvement in trading performance

Remaining unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2012 of £4 2m
(2011 £3 6m)in the UK and $12 6m (2011 $15 1m) in the US are
in addition to unclaimed capital allowances in the UK of £5 4m
(2011 £8 7m)

Deferred tax assets associated with pension habilities reduced from

£2 5m at March 2011 to £2 1m at 31 March 2012 in line with the fall
in the net pension deficit and the reduction in the UK corporate tax
rate from 26% to 24% for the coming financial year

A full reconcibiation of the total 1ax charge 1s shown in Note 6(b) to
the financial statements

10
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Earnings per Share

Bastc earnings per share from continuing operations of 6 7p
represents an in¢rease of 91% compared to 3 5p for the year ended
31 March 2011

Shareholders’ Funds
The Group's net assets rose to £21 3m at 31 March 2012, an increase
of £6 Om (+39 4%) on the position twelve months earlier

Cash Flow and Net Debt

The Group had another strong year for cash generation with a net
cash inflow from operating actwities of £8 7m exceeding the £8 5m
generated for the year to 31 March 2011

Control of working capstal 1s a key aspect of the Group’s debt
rmanagement At the end of March 2012, working capital efficency,
measured by reference to trailing three month sales {annualised),
was 7 9% compared to 8 9% at 31 March 2011 Despite higher
sales actmity, year-end working capital was £1 Om lower than

12 months earlier

With a much rmproved balance sheet, the Board has been able to
sanction mereased capital spending to enhance the Group’s asset base
and earnings potential, including the new machine for Laminates
announced In July 2011 As a consequence, for the 12 months to
March 2012, capital additions amounted to £3 5m, three times the
level of the previous year Cash flows relating to this capital investment
amounted to £2 7m {2011 £1 2m), of which the new production line
at Lammates accounted for £1 2m (£2011 £0 2m} Depreciation for
the year was £2 4m (2011 £2 9m)

Interest expense cash flow reduced by £0 7m to £0 8m for the year

Net debt (financial habilities excluding the fair value of dernvatives, less
cash) reduced substantialty for the second consecutive year, closing at
£3 6m compared with £8 5m one year earlier and £10 0m at

30 Septernber 2011

As at 31 March 2012, the Group s debt cover ratio {net debt to trailing
12 month EBITDA} was down to 04X (2011 11X, 2010 3 9x)with
gearing {net debt to Shareholders’ funds) at 17% (2011 56%,

2010 107%)
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Borrowings and Liquidity

The Groups policy 1s to ensure that bank facilies and other funding
are suffioent 1o meet foreseeable peak borrowing requirements
Facilities are in place to independently finance the Group’s mam
operations based in the UK and North America

The Group’s UK banking facilises are with Barclays Bank PLC and

are in place until July 2013 During the year, the Group extended its
facilities with Barclays with temporary increases in term and overdraft
loans to meet expected peak cash flows relating to the Laminates
investment project and the working capital build to support the
associated supply deal Faciities at 31 March 2012 totalled £16 75m
(2011 £14 1m) compnsing amartistng loans of £8 Om repayable over
the term of the facity with a finat £4 25m due in July 2013, a term
loan of £3 75m repayable in fuly 2013 and a mult-option overdraft
facility of £5 Gm renewable (n Novernber 2012 UK borrowings

are secured against the Group's UK assets and are subject to four
quarterly financial covenant targets

In North Amenca, bank faciities are with Wells Fargo Bank and extend
to October 2013 Faolties compnse a $1 5m amortsing loan and

8 $5 5m asset backed overdraft facility Borrewings are secured on
working capital, plant and equipment and the Kansas property and
are subject to quarterly covenant targets

Farergn Currency Exchange Rates
Exchange rates used for the transtation of results and assets of US,
Euro zone and China based operations are shown below

Rate to £1 uss Euro RMB
31 March 2012

Average 159 116 —_
Closing 160 120 —
31 March 2011

Average 156 118 1036
Cloging 160 113 10 50

Stock symbol APl

Pensions

The Group cperates a number of pension schemes for the benefit of
1ts past and current employees UK and US defined benefit pension
plans, both of which are closed to future accrual, are accounted for
under I1AS 19 At 31 March 2012 the Group’s IAS 19 gross pension
labifity was calculated at £8 6m (2011 £9 7m) After accounting for a
deferred tax asset of £2 1m (2010 £2 5m) the net hability amounts to
£6 5m (2011 £7 2m)

The API Group plc Pension and Life Assurance Fund, the UK based
fund, has approximately 1,620 pensioners and deferred members and
net habilities assessed at £7 5m (2011 £90m)} The UK scheme has
admitted no new members since October 2006 and the scheme was
closed to future service accrual on 31 December 2008 Exceptionally
low yields on gilts have pulled down the discount rates used to value
scheme liabilities from 5 65% to 4 85% The resultant increase in
habilities of £9 4m has been mitigated by lower long term mflation
assumptions (£2 7m) and an experience gain of £7 2m ansing from
updated member data used for calculating the scheme liabilities

in addition, the UK scheme benefiled from above-target asset
investment performance of £0 3m and receved a defiat-reduction
contribution from the Company of £0 7m (2011 £0 4m}

The UK scheme recently completed sts tnenmial valuation based

on 1ts position at 30 September 2010 The valuation calculated a
funding deficit of £15 7mwith a funding ratio of 81% As part of
the completion of the review, the Company and Scheme Trustees
agreed a funding plan which left the schedule of contnbutions by the
Company unchanged from the previous arrangement Under the new
plan, 1t 1s estimated that annual contributions of £0 7m per annum,
10 conunction with assumed return on scheme assets, will reduce the
scheme defiat to zero by June 2019 The Company also continues to
pay all pension related administration fees on behalf of the Fund

In the US the Company defined benefit scheme was closed to new
entrants and future accrual in 2004 Membership 15 approximately
170 current and past employees Detalls of the net defict of £1 1m
{2011 £0 7m) are included m Note 17 to the financial statements

At the Group’s US manufactunng facility in New Jersey, current and
past US employees covered by uion contracts are members of a
union managed multi-employer defined benefit pension plan This
schemne remains open and operates under the terms of the site’s
collective bargaining agreement In accordance with 1AS 19, this
scheme 1s accounted for as a defined contnbution plan

11
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Business Review

continued

Environment, Health and
Safety (“EHS")

The Group operates its busmesses in a manner which aims to
elrminate the possibility of rts activities causing harm to people and
the environment The Group’s EHS policy provides a framework

and guidelines for the Group's businesses to ensure that they meet
or exceed all iocal legal and regulatory requirements and maintain
suitably active and directed management programmes at site level
There 15 a clear emphasis on the respansibilities of local management
teams, with oversight through line management and support from
QGroup resources

The Group Chief Executive 1s accountable to the Board for overall
leadership of the Group’s EHS management programme  All sites
report monthly on their EHS performance, with accoident and
other statistics compiled by business unit and for the Group as a
whole Each site also completes an annual review of performance,
including progress agamst annual objectives, and sets out a plan
of improvements for the year ahead As a matter of policy, EHS 1s
placed first on the agenda of all regular business review meetings,
including Board meetings At feast one EHS item is included on the
list of personal objectives for all business unit general managers and
operations managers which are in turn linked 1o the annual bonus
scheme

The Environment

The protection of the environment is an 1ssue of fundamental
importance for the Group and each of the operating businesses The
Group's environmental responsibilities are managed through detailed
internal systems with a number of operating units maintaiming
certification 1o the nternational environmental management standard
150 14001

APl Group complies with all applicable environmental tegislation

and continues to invest in systems and equipment to ensure that
environmental performance 15 measured and improved in the key
areas of solvent emissions, energy efficiency, noise, process and
packaging waste and soil/groundwater protection For 2011712, the
Group compited its first full year of standardised data on monthly
waste emissions and energy consumption at all thirteen AP faciities
The statistics denved from this data are intended to be used as a
benchmark to judge the success of targeted iImprovement actmties in
the years ahead

During the year, four environmental incidents were logged under the
Group's internal reporting These incidents comprised a temporary
exhausting to atmosphere of solvent laden dryer air due to a ducting
{aiture (esumated 180kg solvent), an overflow of cil (estimated

100 litres) onto adjacent land leading to menor groundwater
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contarmination, a significant spill of solvent based liquid (estimated
1,700 htres) which was nevertheless fully contained within the
affected premises, and a failure to submit certain records to authornties
used for montoring purposes All inaidents were promptly responded
to and notified to relevant authorities, as approprtate

Health & Safety

The Board regards the provision by the Group of safe workplaces

as a fundamental business responsibility and the first priority of
management With the assistance of qualified personnel and input
from Safety Commitiees, all employees are involved i implementing
the Company’s Health & Safety management system Through narmal
channels of accountabihity and review, supplemented by central
collation of statistics, management ensures that Health & Safety
programmes at each site are sufficiently active and appropriately
focused on both the maintenance and further improvement of safety
standards

Skill development 1s a key element of the Group’s EHS approach and it
encourages this through the orgamsation and funding of both internal
and external health & safety trainmg The Group EHS policy defines
rminimum traiming standards for nominated safety officers on each site
and all supervisors and managers with responsibility for production
operations

Significant Health & Safety inaidents (employee injuries, work-related
llinesses and dangerous occurrences) are defined in Group policy and
statistsics compiled for review by management and the Board For the
12 months to 31 March 2012, the total number of Group-reportable
incidents per 100,000 working hours was recorded as 1 71 compared
to 2 50 for the prior year Within this total the frequency of Lost
Time Accidents (“LTA” — accidents leading to more than one day of
absence from work) reduced from 0 64 to § 20, equating to just two
LTAs Group-wide for the 12 month period Total days absence from
LTAs logged during 2011/12 but connected with inadents occurnng m
both the latest and prior years, were up from 110 to 281

A particular EMS focus over the peniod has been on reducing the
nsk of fire and exploston at the Group’s five manufactunng plants
Throughout the year, sie management teams worked to improve
therr ratings against the Group’s new introduced Fire and Explosion
Prevention Standard, a comprehensive guide to best practice
techmques, processes and controls At the end of the 12 month
period, the average rating had improved from 292 to 328 oyt of a
maximum achievable score of 400
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Principal Risks
and Uncertainties

Operational

Markets

A key nsk faced by the business I1s a reduction in levels of demand
by customers In general custorners are unencumbered by formal
contractual commitments and provide mited visitbility of future
volume requirements Ultimately, order levels depend on rates of
consumption several stages removed from the Group's point of sale
combined with the effects of confidence and deaision making by
multiple parties wathin the supply chain which are difficult to predict
While the Group constantly strives to adapt its operations to prevailing
demand, its cost base 15 inevitably somewhat inelastic and financaial
results are therefore difficult to insulate from any sharp or prolonged
downturn in market activity

Commercial Relationships

The business relies for a significant proportion of its turnover on a
small number of key customers and supply contracts Any slumpn
the fortunes of major customers or lack of success tn maintaning or
replacing existing major supply positions could have a matenial adverse
impact on the Group’s cperating results

Geographic

A significant proportion of the Group's sales are in developed

Western economies including the UK In line with the general move
of manufactunng to lower cost countres, certain of the Group s
immediate and end-use customers routinely consider relocating
facilities to regions where the Group's infrastructure is less well
developed such as Eastern Europe and Asia Any accelerated reduction
in the accessible customer hase could impact the Group’s sales
opportunities

Input Costs

A sigruficant proportion of the Group s raw matenal and conversion
costs are affected by the price of ol and gas and the dynamics of
particular commodity supply sectors As well as being difficult 1o
insulate input costs from volatMity in the price of these commodities,
the Group can also face challenges in passing hugher costs through to
customers due to competitive pressures in most markets

Stock symbol AP

Defined Benefit Pension Schemes

The Group provides final salary retrement benefits for a number of its
former and current employees through pension schemes in the UK and
US While these schemes are closed to future service accrual, actuarial
valuations and funding assessments may lead to demands for higher
top-up contributions from the Group Contnbution reguirermnents may
vary depending on investment performance, mortality rates, inflation
levels and changes in other actuanal assumptions

Health & Safety

The Group’s opesations are subject to a vanety of Health & Safety risks
which, if they are not properly managed and controlled, could lead to
the suspension or withdrawal of operating consents by enforcement
authonties, corporate prosecution or the loss of productive capacity
through damage to equipment or facilities Whilst Health & Safety 1s
given the higher prionty, an active programme 1s in place to control
exposure to fire and explosion nsk and although management works
closely with insurers on the prevention of property loss and business
interruption, there remains the potential for significant adverse
disruption to the Group's activiiies and financial contingencies which
may not be wholly covered by insurance

Environment

APl 1s aware of the impact the Group’s operations can have on the
environment Some of the Group’s manufacturing processes involve
solvents and other hazardous chemicals Where these substances are
used there 15 the potential for arr and ground contamination Past
exposures are remedied when required The nisk of new inadents

15 contained by means of stnict operating procedures but failure to
meet required standards could lead to the suspension or withdrawal
of operating consents by enforcement authorities or financial and
reputational loss anising from corporate prosecution

Finanaal

The Group continually reviews 1ts approach to the management of
financial nsk Control over treasury and sk management 1s exercised
by the Board through the setting of policy and the regular review of
forecasts and finanoial exposures
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Business Review

continued

Principal Risks
and U nce I'ta i nties continued

Foreign Currency

With operations in 9 countries, the Group 15 exposed to foreign
exchange translation nsk when the net assets and tncome statements
of overseas subsidiaries are consolidated into the Group accounts The
Group does not undertake any trading activity in financial instruments
Transactional foreign exchange exposures arise when an entity within
the Group enters into a transaction to pay or receve funds in a
currency other than its functional currency For substantial exposures,
1t 15 Group policy to hedge through the use of foreign exchange
forward contracts

Interest Rates

Interest rate nisk anses from cash and borrowings which are subject

to floating interest rates Changes to interest rates could impact

net results and cash flow The Group uses swap hedge instruments

to convert a portion of 11s debt from floating to fixed interest rate
Sensitivity to movements in interest and exchange rates is explained in
Note 2t to the finanoal statements

Credit

Credit nisk arises from the possibility that customers may not be able
to settle ther obligations as agreed Customers are assessed for
finanaial reliability using external rating agences Secure payment
terms are frequently used in riskier geographies or for nskier
customers The Group frequently assesses the cost and benefits of
credit insurance and procures coverage as considered appropriate

14
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Liquidity

Liquidity risk refers to the nsk that the Group may not be able to
settle or meet its financial obligations on time or at a reasonable price
Thus will anise from mismatches between cash inflows and outflows
from the business This nsk 1s monitored through regular short term
cash flow forecasting, reling 12 menth trading forecasts from the
businesses and annual budgets agreed by the Board before the start
of each financial year The Directors consider that borrowing facilities
provide adequate headroom but fallure to meet covenant and other
conditions could result in the Group being forced to accept materially
less attractive lending terms or to implermnent measures designed

to accelerate the repayment of debt to the possible detniment of
Sharehotder value
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Board of Directors

Richard Wright
Charrman

Richard joined the Board on 3 September 2001 and was appointed
Chairman on 1 February 2006 He 1s a member of the Nomination,
Remuneration and Audit Committees Richard previously hetd senior
Executwve roles with the Ford Motor Company including Director,
European operations at Jaguar Cars Limited, Director of Sales, Ford
Motor Company Limited and President/Managing Director of Ford
Belglum NV He 1s currently a Non-executive Director and Chairman
Designate of Caffyns plc and a member of the Board of WBS, Warwick
University Business School He is the former Chair of the Board of
National Savings and Investmenis, a former Nan-executive Director of
Mentmore plc, Wagon plc, Chargemaster ple, Sonas Group Limited
and Sonas Investments Lirnited

Andrew Walker
Non-executive Director, Sentor independent Director

Andrew joined the Board in 2003 and i1s Chairman of the
Remuneration and Audit Committees He has wide public company
expenience both in manufactunng and service companies He was
previously Group Chief Executive of McKechnie plc and, prior to
joining McKechnie, he was Group Chief Executive of South Wales
Electricity, joining them from Tl Group plc Andrew is currently
Chairman of Metalrax plc and a Non-executive Director of Plastics
Capital pk, Manganese Bronze Holdings plc, Porvair plc and May
Gurney Integrated Services plc He is the former Chairman of Brintons
Limited and a former Non-executive Director of Delta plc

Max Batzer
Non-executive Director

Max joined the Board in October 2007 and 1s Charman of the
Nominations Committee and a mernber of the Remuneration
Committee Max 1s a Portfollo Manager at Wynnefield Capital, inc
which has a significant beneficial interest in the Company's shares He
Is also a Director of Integral Wealth Management and has previously
held positions as Chairman of the Board and CEQ of Diagnostrc Health
Services, Director of Cornell Companies, Inc, Director and Executive
Commttee member of Simmons Airlines Inc , a publicly traded
regronal airline, and President of General Hide and Skin Corporation

a worldwide trading organisation

Stock symbol AR

Andrew Turner
Group Chief Executive

Andrew joined the Board in Octaber 2007 as Group Chief Executive
He 15 a graduate mechanical enginegr with an MBA and has over

15 years' expenence in the packaging sector Prior to joiming AP,
Andrew was Global Vice Prestdent, Marketing & Sales for the Tobacco
Packaging sector of Alcan, the worldwide alurminium producer, and
prior to that, he was Divisional Managing Director with Field Group
plc, the printed paperboard packaging company, with responsibility
for operations in the UK, Germany and Spain

Chris Smith
Group Finance Director

Chris joined the Board in September 2008 as Group Finance Director
He 1s a qualified ACA and has in excess of 20 years’' expenence
working in manufacturing businesses Chns has previously held a
vanety of roles at Courtaulds plc, manufacturers of films, chemicals
and hbres, where he gained international expenence, holdng
positions located in Germany and Hong Kong Prior to joining API
Chris worked for Scapa ple, manufaciurers of adhesive tapes, where
he was Finance and IT Director for Europe and Asia

Luke Wiseman
Non-executive Director

Luke joined the Board in September 2006 and 1s a member of the
Audt Committee Luke 1s Charman of Barbican Group Holdings
Limited, an insurance and reinsurance company based in London He
15 also a Director of Olivetree Secunties Limited and Steel Partners (UK)
Limrted, whose affiliates have a significant benefioal interest in the
shares in the Company
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Directors’ Report

The Dwrectors present therr Annual Report and the audited financial
staterments for the year ended 31 March 2012 The Corporate Governance
staternent on pages 20 to 22 forms part of this Directors’ Report

Principal Activities

APl Group plk 15 the holding company of a group of companies
which manufacture and distnbute specialty fodls, films and laminated
matenals used primanty in the graphics and packaging industnes

for brand enhancement and protection The principa! operating
companies of the Group during the period are listed on page 63

Results, Bustness Review and Future Developments
The Group Income Statement 15 set out on page 24

The Directors’ Report should be read together with the Business
Revtew on pages 7 to 14 which set out a review of the Group’s
actvities, performance and development

Directors
The Directors who served on the Board of the Company durnng the
year to 31 March 2012 were

Richard Wright
Andrew Turner
Max Batzer
Chnis Smith
Andrew Walker
Luke Wiseman

The Company’s Articles of Association require that Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by Shareholders at
intervals of not more than three years

Mr Smuth and Mr Walker were last re-elected by Shareholders at the
2009 Annual General Meeting and will therefore offer themselves for
re-election at the 2012 Annual General Meeting Their biographical
details can be found on page 15 The Board recognises and values the
performance and contnbution of both Mr Smith and Mr Walker and
recommends their re-election

Details of Directors’ share options and emoluments {required {0 be
disclosed in accordance with the AIM Rules for Companies) are set out
in the schedule of Directors’ Emoluments on pages 18 to 19

Substantial Interests in Shares
The Company has been noufied of the following substantial interests in
the ssued ordinary shares of the Company as at the date of this report

% of 1ssued

share capital

Steel Partners Ui, LP 324
Wynnefield Capital, Inc 297
Crystal Amber Fund Lirited 70
Hargreave Hale Nominees Limited 51
API Group plc No 2 Employee Benefit Trust 39
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Prnctpal Risks and Uncertainties

The Board meets regularly to review operations and to discuss nsk
areas The Corporate Governance report contains details of the
Group's internal controf system Pages 13 to 14 of the Business Review
contain informaton on the pnncipal nsks facing the Group and Note
21 10 the financial statements contains detarls of sensitivity 1o financial
risks

Safety, Health and the Environment

One of the Group's pnmary objectives Is to achieve high standards of
safety for its employees and this is the first item on the Agenda at the
Company's Board meetings The Busingss Review on page 12 confains
mformation on the Group's objectives and performance with regard to
safety, health and the environment

Employees

The Beard 15 aware of the importance of good relationships and
communcation with employees The Group takes appropriate steps
to inform employees of the arcumstances facing its businesses,

therr progress and plans to promote a sense of common endeavour
towards the success of the organisation The Company encourages
consultation and communication at site level so that 1t may take the
views of its employees tnto account when making decisions which are
Iikely to affect their interests Training and development of employees
1s given due pnionty and the Group also operates a number of
incentive schemes which encourage employees to contribute directly
to the achievement of the Group’s goals and reward individual and
collective success

Both employment policy and practice in the Group are based on
non-discrimination and equal opporturity irespective of age,
disability, race, religion or belief, gender, sexual onentation, gender
reassignment, colour, nationality, ethn:c or national orngin, and
manital or cwil partner status The Group endeavours to gwve full and
far consideration to the possibility of employing disabled pecple
wherever a suitable vacancy anses Disabled employees have the
same opportunities as other employees in relation to traiming, career
development and promotion

The Board has implemented a Whistleblowing Policy to enable and
encourage employees regardless of senionty to bnng matters relating
to suspected wrongdoing or dangers at work to the Board's attention
Copies of the Whistleblowing Policy are available to employees on the
Company's Intranet and also the Employee Handbook Arrangements
are in place for a proportonate and independent investigation of any
such allegations and for approprniate follow-up action where required

Research and Development

Each business unit has technical teams which focus on innovating,
customising and developing existing and new product lines

and manufacturing processes to address customer and market
requirements Details of the Group’s expenditure on research and
development are disclosed in Note 3 to the finanaal statements
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Payments to Suppliers

The Group's policy 1s normally to pay suppliers according to agreed
terms of business These terms are agreed with supplers upon
entenng inte contracts and the Group’s practice 15 te adhere to the
payment terms providing the supplier meets tts obligations The
Company 15 a holding company and had no trade creditors at the end
of the financial period

Charitable and Political Donations
Charitable donations made by the Group during the pencd amounted
to £2,231 (2011 £1,012) There were no pohtical donations

Going Concern

The finanaial position of the Group, including its cash flows, iquidity
situation and borrowing faciities are set out in the Business Review
on pages 7 to 11 The Group's main borrowing faclities in the UK and
the US are committed to July 2013 and Octaber 2013 respectively

The Group's forecasts and projections, allowing for possible
detenoration of trading performance, show that the Group has a
reasonable expectation of being able to operate wathin the level of
currently available facilities

The Business Review on pages 7 to 11 sets out the Groups trading
situation and pages 13 to 14 highlights the Pnnaipal Risks and
Uncertainties that could impact on the future development of the Groups
operating and financial performance The unsettled general economic
environment in sts mamn European and US markets could adversely affect
demand for the Group's preducts and there 1s the possibility that the
Group's actual trading performance during the coming year may be
matenally drfferent from management's expectation

The Directors consider that, after making appropnate enquinies
and at the ume of approving these accounts, there 15 a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue

in operational existence for the foreseeable future The Directors
therefore continue to adopt the going concern basis In preparing
these accounts

Directors’ Responstbifities Statement

The Directors are responsible for prepaning the Annual Report and the
finanaal statements in accordance with applicable United Kingdom
law and regulations

Company law reguires the Directors 10 prepare Tinancial statements
for each financial year Under that law, and as required by the

AIM Rules, the Directors have elected to prepare Group finangal
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union Under cornpany law,
the Derectors must not approve the Group financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state

of affairs of the Group and of the profit or loss of the Group for

that period

Stock symbel APl

The Directors are required to prepare financial statements which
present fairly the financial posiiion, financial performance and cash
flows of the Group for the relevant period

In prepanng those finanaal statements the Directors are required to

¢ select suitable accounting policies in accordance with |AS 8
Accounting Polictes, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors
and then apply them consistently,

& present information, including accounting palicies, in a manner
that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable
information,

¢ provide additional disclosures when compliance with the speaific
reguirements in IFRSs 15 insuffioent to enable users to understand
the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions
on the Group’s financial position and performance,

e prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it
1s inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in
business, and

e state that the Group has complied with IFRSs

The Brectors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records
that are sufficient to show and explain the transactions and disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any ume the financial position of the
Group and enable them to ensure that the Group financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities

Directors’ Statement as to Disclosure of information

to the Auditor

The Directors who were members of the Board at the time of approving
the Directors' Report are listed on page 16 Having made enquines of
fellow Directors and of the Company's Auditor, each of those Directors
confirms that as at the date of this report as far as each Director 1s
aware there 15 no relevant information of which the Company's Auditor
15 unaware Each Director has taken such steps as he might reasonably
be expected to take as a Director in order to make himself aware of
information which might be relevant to the Company’s Auditor and
whether the Auditer 18 1n possession of such information

Auditor

Ernst & Young LLP has expressed its wilingness te continue in office
as Auditor and a resolution proposing its reappointment will be put to
the members at the Annual General Meeting

8y order of the Board

Wendy Baker
Company Secretary
28 May 2012

Registered Office
Second Avenue

Poynton Industrial Estate
Poynton, Cheshire

SK12 1ND
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Directors’ Emoluments

The emoluments of the Directors are as follows

Aggregate Pension

emoluments contributions Total
£'000 £000 £000

Year ended 31 March 2012

Executive Directors

MAndrew Turner 383 22 405
2Chns Srmuth 225 14 239

Non-executive Directors
BRichard Wright 67 — 67
“andrew Walker 34 — 34
Eiuke Wiseman 26 — 26
©iMax Batzer 30 — 30
765 36 801

Year ended 31 March 2011

Executive Directors

Andrew Turner 408 21 429
Chris Sruth 248 14 262

Non-executive Directors
Rechard Wright 50 — 50
Andrew Walker 30 — 30
Luke Wiserman 25 — 25
Max Batzer 25 — 25
786 35 821

[4H]

[£4]

@

23]

5}

5

Mr Turner receved an annual increase on his basic salary of 2 5% with effect from 1 January 2012 The aggregate emoluments also include a
bonus award of £119,000 as determined by the Remuneration Committee based on a bonus plan relating to financial and operating targets
Mr Smith receved an annual increase of 3 0% on his basic salary with effect from 1 January 2012 The aggregate emoluments include a bonus
award of £77,000 as deterrined by the Remuneration Committee based on a bonus plan relating to financral and operating targets

Mr Wnght's annual fee increased to £55,000 with effect from 1 June 2011 Duning the year Mr Wright alse receved an additiong! fee of
£12,000 in relation to extra time spent in evaluating certain strategic options for the Company

Mr Walker's annual fee was increased to £31,000 with effect from 1 June 2011 Duning the year Mr Walker also receved an additional fee of
£3,000 in relation to extra time spent n evaluating certain strategic options for the Company

Mr Wiseman's annual fee was increased 1o £26,000 with effect from 1 June 2011

Mr Batzer's annual fee increased to £26,000 with effect from 1 June 2011 Duning the yeas, Mr Batzer receved an addrtional fee of £4,000 in
relation to extra time spent in evaluating certain strategic options for the Company

18
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Share options
2006 Performance Share Plan
The Executive Directors hold options over the Company’s Ordinary Shares of 1p as fotlows

Andrew Turner Chris Smith Total

No No No

At 31 March 2011 800,000 325,000 1,125,000
Lapsed during the year {396,800) {161,200) (558,000)
At 31 March 2012 403,200 163,800 567,000

These options were granted under the 2006 Performance Share Plan on 28 March 2008 to Mr Turner and on 30 September 2008 to Mr Smith
The options were granted as “nit” cost options and they were subject 1o the achievement of profit-related targets Following the determination
of the Remuneraticn Committee, taking into account profit-related targets, 50 4% of Mr Turner’s options vested on 7 June 2011 and 50 4% of
Mr Smith s options vested on 30 September 2011 ( 'Vested Options’ ) and the remainder lapsed m accordance with the scheme rules Mr Turner's
Vested Options are exercisable between 7 June 2011 and 8 June 2018 and Mr Srmith’s Vested Options are exeraisable between 30 September
2011 and 1 October 2018

Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP*)
Under the terms of the LTIP. the Executive Directors hold contingent shares in the Company's Ordinary Shares of 1p as follows

Andrew Turner Chris Smith Total
No No No
At 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2012 1,800,000 1,200,000 3,000,000

The contingent shares can be earned following the financial years ended 31 March 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015 based on a set of performance
cntena reflecing increases in Shareholder value

Foliowing the financial year ended 31 March 2012, the Remuneration Committee has determined, in accordance with the scheme rules and based
on the performance cntena reflecting increases in Shareholder value, that 577,856 contingent shares held by Mr Turner had vested and 385,237
contingent shares held by Mr Smith had vested The shares that have vested will be transferred at nil cost Full details are given in Note 19 to the
consohdated financial statements
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Corporate Governance

The Board has adopted the Quoted Compames Alliance Guidelines
(the “Guidelines”) for AIM listed companies

The Board

The Board consists of a Non-executive Chairman, two Executive Directors
and three Non-executive Directors A short biography of each Drector,
which dlustrates their wide range of experience, 15 set out on page 15

There 1s a clear division of responsibility between the Charman and
Group Chief Executive and written Terms of Reference have been
adepted by the Board defining these roles As Charrman, Richard Wright
15 responsible for managing the Board, ensuring its effectiveness and
setting its agenda Andrew Turner, Group Chief Executive, 15 respansible
for implementing strategy and 1s responsible 10 the Board for the
operational and financial performance of the Group

Andrew Walker 1s the Senior Independent Director Notwithstanding
his length of service on the Board, Andrew Walker is considered by the
Board to be independent of management and free from any business
or other relationships which could matenally interfere with the exercise
of his independent judgement Luke Wiseman and Max Batzer have
each been destgnated by the Board as non-independent, by wirtue of
their associations with major Shareholders, Steel Partners, || L P and
wynnefield Capital, Inc respectively All the Non-executive Directors
constructively challenge and help develop proposals on strategy and
bring strong knowledge and experience to the Board's deliberations

The Board structure ensures that no indiwdual or group dominates
the decision making process As the business has developed, the
composition of the Board has been kept under review to ensure that it
remains appropnate to the managenal requirements of the Company
There 1s a formal, ngorous and transparent procedure for the
appointment of new Directors to the Board The Company s Articles
of Association require that one-third of the Directors offer themselves
for re-election annually in rotation This enables the Sharehotders to
decide on the composition of their Board

The Board was scheduled to meet 8 imes dunng the year and in fact
met 10 umes Each Director attended all Board meetings with the
exception that Andrew Walker was unable to attend an unscheduled
meeting called at short notice The Board manages the Company
through a formal schedule of matters reserved for its decision These
include overall management of the Company, financial reporting and
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controls, matenal agreements, non-recurnng projects, treasury, audit
and risk management, remuneration, corporate governance and
corporate responsibility The Board has a keen focus on commercial
strategy with strategic plans {or both shart term and long term growth
of each business unit being presented to the Board for review and
approval Long term incentive plans for the Executive Directors and
local management are hinked to these plans and operating budgets
and capital expenditure plans are expected to be in hne wath the
Company's overall commercial strategy The Board has delegated
specific responsibility to the Board Committees set out below and
the roles and responsibilities of each Commuttee are set out in clearly
defined Terms of Reference From time to time and if required the
Board will estabhish ad hot committees to deal with specific ssues

The Board receives appropnate documentation and financial
information which 15 provided in advance of each Board meeting
This includes monthly management accounts, reporis on current
trading and papers on matters in respect of which the Board makes
decisions or 15 mvited to give its approval Regular reports are given
to the Board on such matters as insurance and treasury 1ssues, lega!
matters, pensions and health, safety and environmental 1ssues
Specific presentations are also made on business or strategic Issues
as appropnate Regular presentations are recewed from the General
Manager of each of the Group's principal operating businesses in
respect of its market position, current trading and prospects

All Directors are offered appropnate traiming 1o develop therr
knowledge and ensure they remain up to date in relevant matters for
which they have responsibility as a member of the Board A procedure
has been adopted for Directors to obtain independent professional
advice, where appropnate, and all Directors have unrestricted access
1o the Company Secretary The Board has also established a formal
process, led by the Chairman, for the annual evaluation of the
performance of the Board and its principal Commuittees The results
are collated and discussed The latest evaluation confirmed that the
Board was operating effectively and no specific action was required
Appropnate action 15 taken to ensure that the Board as a whole, its
principal Commuttees and each individual Director perform at the
optimum level for the benefit of the Company

The Non-executive Directors meet at least annually without the
Executive Directors being present
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Throughout the penod and as at the date of this report, the Articles
of Association of the Company contained provisions for the benefit of
Directors, officers and employees of the Company and sts subsidiary
and associated companies indemnifying them out of the assets of

the Company to the full extent allowed by the law agamnst habilities
incurred by them in the course of carrying out therr duties In additson
and in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, the
Company has granted qualifying third party indemmities to each of its
current Directors 1n respect of any hability which attaches to them in
defending proceedings brought agatnst them, to the extent permitted
by the Companies Act Copies of such indemnities are available for
inspectian upon application to the Company Secretary

Audit Commtttee

The Audit Committee consists of Andrew Walker (chair), Richard
Wnght and Luke Wiseman The Committee met thrée times in

the year at which the Executive Directors were also present The
Company's Auditor was in attendance at two of those meetings The
Charrman of the Committee also met the Company’s Auditor without
the Executive Directars being present

The Commuttee 1s responsible for ensuring that the financial actwvities
of the Company are properly monitored, controlled and reported on
It recommends the appointment of the Company's Auditor, reviews
the audit fee and audit plan and pre-approves any non-audit work for
which the Auditor 1s engaged, prior to commitment by the Group

Internal Control and Risk Management

The Board s responsible for the Group's system of internal control and for
reviewng its effectveness In the context of the Group's business any such
system can only reasonably be expected to manage rather than ehrminate
nsks ansing from its operations It can therefore only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against matenal loss or misstaternent

Stack symbol APl

Key features of the internal control system are as follows

e The Group has an organisational structure with clearly established
responsibilites and lines of accountabiity The Group promotes
the values of integnty and professionalism The members of the
Board are available to hear, in confidence, any indvidual s
cancerns about iImproprieties

e The Audit Committee reports at least twice per year to the Board
and provides details and results of both external and internal audst
reviews

¢ The Board has a schedule of matters expressly reserved for its
consideration This schedule includes acquisitions, major capital
projects treasury, nsk management policies, approval of budgets
and Health & Safety

® Anongoing nisk management process has been implemented
which identfies the key business nisks facing the Group including
both financial and operational risks This process and the key
business risks are reviewed by the Board at least twice per year

& The controls in place to mimmise the occurrence of risk are
documented and analysed for effectiveness These include
procedures for the approval of major expenditure or commitment
of resources

¢ The Board monitors the actmvities of the Group through the
management accounts, monthly forecasts and other reports on
current activities and plans The Executive management regularly
monttors financial and operational performance (in detall and
takes any necessary corrective action

® The Group operates a Whistleblowing Policy, enabling any
individual with a concern to approach the Board Chairman or
Audit Committee Charman in confidence

The Board reviews and continues to review the effectiveness of the

Group's procedures in managing nsk and, therefore believes it meets
the requirements of the Guidelines
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Corporate Governance

continued

The Group has adopted a system of core financial contrals which
each business unit 1s expected to operate External advisers are
engaged to test the apphcation of such controls, rating and
classifying performance, identifying strengths and weaknesses, and
recommending any improvements that need to be made These
findings are reported to the Audit Committee and in response the
business unit will prepare a schedule of undertakings for the Audit
Committee including actions that will be taken, tmescale and who s
responsible for completion of the action

Remuneration Committee

The Committee met six times dunng the year and 1s comprised of the
following Non-executive Directors Andrew Walker (chair), Richard
Wright and Max Batzer On occasions and for matters not related io
him, the Group Chief Executive 1s also consulted on proposals relating
to the remuneration of membegs of the Group’s senior management
team and he also attends meetings of the Committee by invitation

The Commuttee, on behalf of the Board and with input from external
adwisors as appropnate, determines all elements of the remuneration
packages of the Executive Directors and the framework and broad

policy for the remuneration of other members of the senior Executive
management of the Group 1o ensure remuneration Is competitive

and that ndmduals are farty rewarded for ther contnbution to the
Company's overall performance It approves the terms of service contracts
for Executive Directors, approves any compensation arrangements
resutting from the termiunation by the Company of a Director’s service
contract, and approves the grant of long term incentrves

No Director was involved in deciding the level and composition of
his own remuneration The remuneration of Non-executeve Directors,
including the Chairman, 1s reviewed and determined by the other
members of the Board
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Nominations Committee

The Committee compnses Max Batzer (Chair) and Richard Wright
When appropniate, non-committee members are invited to participate
In discussions and matters being addressed by the Committee The
Commuttee’s principal responsibihity 1s to ensure that appropnate
procedures are in place for the nommation, selection and succession
of Dwectors and senior Executives It did not meet formally during the
year but considered and approved the appaintment of a new General
Manager for the Group’s Foils Europe business

Relations with Shareholders

The Company attaches great importance on maintaining good
relationships wath Shareholders The Directors meet and discuss the
performance of the Group with major Shareholders dunng the year
Quenes raised by Shareholders are promptly answered by whoever on
the Board 15 best placed to do so Investors are encouraged to participate
in the Annual General Meeting at which the Chairman presents a review
of the Company’s Results and provides comments on current business
activity The Chairmen of the Rermuneration, Nominations and Audit
Committees attend the Annual General Meeting to answer questions
which may be relevant 1o the work of those Committees

The Company's Financial Calendar 1s set out on page 67 The
Company’s wel site provides financial and other business information
about the Group including an archive of past announcements, annual
reports and share price information
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Independent Auditor’'s Report to the
Members of APl Group plc

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of APl Group
plc for the year ended 31 March 2012 which comprise the Group
income Statement, the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income,
the Group Balance Sheet the Group Statement of Changes in Equity
and the Group Cash Flow Staternent, and the related Notes 1 to

24 The financial reporting framework that has been appled in therr
preparation 15 apphcable law and International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the Eurapean Union

This report 15 made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
Company'’s members those matters we are required to state to them
i an auditor’s report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent
permrtted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibifity to anyone
other than the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for
our audit work, for this report, or for the opintons we have formed

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditor

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibiliies Statement

set out on page 17, the Directors are responsible for the preparattion
of the consolrdated financial statements and for being satisfied that
they give a true and fair vew Our responsibility 1s to audit and express
an opinion on the consolidated financial staternents i accordance
with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK

and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply wrth the Auditing
Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the consolidated financial statements
An audrt involves oblaiming ewidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financia! statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the consohdated financial statements are
free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error
This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the Group’s circumstances and have been consistently
applied and adequately disclosed the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by the Directors, and the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements In addition,
we read all the financial and nen-finangial infermation in the Annual
Report and Accounts to identify matenal inconsistencies with the
audited consolidated financial statements If we become aware of any
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the
imphications for our report

Optnion on consolidated finanaal statements
In our opinion the consolidated financial statements

o give a true and farr view of the state of the Group’s affairs as at
31 March 2012 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended,

e have been properly prepared in accordance with Internauonal
Financal Reporting Standards {IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union, and

e have been prepared In accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006

Opimion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opimion the infermation given in the Directors’ Report for the
financial year far which the consolidated financial statements are
prepared 15 consistent with the consolidated financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where
the Companies Act 2006 requires us 1o report to you if, In our
opinIon

e certam disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are
not made, or

o we have not receved all the information and explanations we
require for our audit

Other matter
We have reported separately on the Parent Company financial
statements of APl Group plc for the year ended 31 March 2012

Ers€ = Yau LL/O

Colin Brown
(Senor Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP
Statutory Auditor

Manchester

28 May 2012

1 The maintenance and integrity of the APl Group plc web site is the
responsibility of the Directors, the work carned out by the Auditor
does not iInvolve consideration of these matters and, accordingly,
the Auditor accepts no responsibility for any changes that may
have occurred to the consolidated financial statements since they
were initially presented on the web site

2 Legislation in the Unied Kingdom goverming the preparation and

dissemination of consoldated financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions
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Group Income Statement

for the year ended 31 March 2012

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March
2012 2011
Note £'000 £ 000
Continuing operations
Revenue 2 113,935 99,963
Cost of sales (87,149) (76,386}
Gross profit 26,786 23,577
Distnbution costs (3,886) {3,284)
Administrative expenses {16,022) (15,099)
Operating profit from continuing operations 23 6,878 5,194
Finance revenue 5 13 17
Finance costs 5 (1,832) (2,354)
{1,819) {2,337)
Profit on continuing operations before taxation 5,059 2,857
Tax expense 6 (10%) (26%)
Profit from continuing operations 4,954 2,592
Discontinued operations
Loss from discontinued operations 7 — (4,124)
Profit/(loss) for the year 4,954 {(1532)
Profit{loss) attnbutable to equity holders of the Parent
- continuINg operatons 4,954 2,592
— discontinued operations — (612)
4,954 1980
Loss attributable to non-controlling interest
— discontinued operations _ (3,512)
Profit/{loss) for the year 4,954 (1,532)
Earnings per share (pence)
Basic earmings per share from continuing operations 8 67 35
Diluted earmings per share from continwing operations 8 64 34
Basic earnings per share on profit for the year 8 67 27
Diluted earnings per share on profii for the year 8 64 26
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Group Statement of Comprehensive Income

for the year ended 31 March 2012

Equity Non-
holders of controlling
the Parent Interests Total
Year ended 31 March 2012 £000 £000 £'000
Profit for the year 4,954 —_ 4,954
Exchange differences on retranslation of foreign operations @ — L]
Change in farr value of effective cash flow hedges 937 937
Actuanal gains on defined benefit pension plans 300 _ 300
Tax on items relating to components of other comprehensive income (419) — (419)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of 1ax 814 —_ 814
Total comprehensive income for the year 5,768 — 5,768
Non-
Equity holders controlling
of the Parent Interests Total
Year ended 31 March 2011 £°000 £000 £'000
Profit/(toss} for the year 1,980 {(3,512) (1,532)
Exchange differences on retranslation of foreign operations (379) (13) {392)
Loss anising on net asset hedge (121) — {121)
Change in fair value of effective cash flow hedges (329) — (329
Actuarial gains on defined benefit pension plans 6,586 — 6,586
Tax on items relating to components of other comprehensive income {2,104) —_ {2,104)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 3,653 {13) 3,640
Total comprehensive income for the year 5633 (3,525) 2,108
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Group Balance Sheet

at 31 March 2012

31 March 31 March
2012 201
Note £°000 £°000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 17,936 16,804
Intangible assets — goodwaill 10 5,188 5188
Trade and other receivables 12 32 94
Deferred tax assets 6 5,230 5,478
28,386 27,564
Current assets
Trade and other recevables 12 15,485 16,848
Inventories 13 12,237 12,405
Other financal assets 474 —
Cash and short term deposits 14 10,068 4175
38,264 33,432
Total assets 2 66,650 60 996
Liabihities
Current habilities
Trade and other payables 15 22,261 21,952
Finangial labilities 16 4,522 2,830
income tax payable 307 365
27,090 25,147
Non-current habilities
Financial labihittes 16 9,237 10,514
Deferred tax habilities 6 307 238
Prowisions 76 85
Deficit on defined benefit pension plans 17 8,618 9,719
18,238 20,556
Total habilities 45,328 45703
Net assets 21,322 15,293
Equity
Called up share capital 18 767 766
Share premium 7136 7,136
Other reserves 20 8,816 8,565
Foreign exchange reserve 20 2558 259
Retaned profit(loss) 4,348 {1,433)
API Group Shareholders’ equity 21,322 15,293

Signed on behalf of the Bo

Andrew Turner
Director
28 May 2012

Company number 169249

26




API Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2012

Group Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended 31 March 2012

Stock symbol APt

Foreign Tota!
Equity Share Other exchange Retained  shareholders
share capital premium feserves reserve earnings equity
£:000 £:000 £ 000 £'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 Apnl 2010 7N 7,136 8,595 3,309 {7,805) 11,936
Profit for the year — — — — 1,980 1,980
Other comprehensive iIncome
Exchange differences on retranslation of
foreign operations — — - (379 — (379)
Loss arising on net asset hedge — — — (121} - (121}
Change in farr value of effective cash flow hedges — — —_ — {329) (329}
Actuanal gains on defined benefit pension plans — — — — 6,586 6,586
Tax on iterns refating to components of other
comprehensive Income — — — — (2,104} (2,104)
Total comprehensive income for the year — — — {500) 6,133 5,633
Transfer to income statement on disposal of
subsidiaries —_ — — {2,550) — (2,550)
Issue of shares 65 — - — — 65
Shares acquired by Employee Benefit Trust — - (30) — - (30)
Share-based payments — — — — 239 239
At 31 March 2011 766 7,136 B,565 259 (1,433) 15,293
Profit for the year — — — — 4,954 4,954
Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences on retranslation of
fereign operations — - - (4 - (4
Change in fair value of effective cash flow hedges — - — — 937 937
Actuanal gains on defined benefit pension plans —_ — —_ - 300 300
Tax on ttems relating to components of other
comprehensive Income — — — — M9 419
Total comprehensive income for the year o — — (4) 5772 5,768
Issue of shares 1 — - — — 1
Shares acquired by the Coampany — — — — (1) (1
Shares acquired by Employee Benefit Trust — - (11} — — an
Transferred on exercise of share options — — 262 — {262} —
Share-based payments — - — — 185 185
Tax relating to items accounted for directly
through equity — — — — 87 87
At 31 March 2012 767 7,136 8,816 255 4,348 21,322
Sharehaolders' Nan-contraling Total
equity interest equrty
£'000 £'000 £ 000
At 1 Aprl 2010 11,936 5,375 17,310
Total comprehensive income for the year 5.633 (3,525) 2,108
Transfer 10 income statement on disposal of subsicharies {2,550) - (2,550)
Elimmnation of minonty interest on disposal — {1,850) (1,850)
Issue of shares 65 — 65
Shares acquired by Employee Benefit Trust (30) — (30
Share-based payments 239 — 239
At 31 March 2011 15,293 — 15,293
Total comprehensive income for the year 5,768 — 5,768
fssue of shares 1 — 1
Shares acquired by the Company ) — (n
Shares acquired by Employee Benefit Trust (11) — {t1}
Share-based payments 185 — 185
Tax relating to Iitems accounted for directly through equity 87 — g7
At 31 March 2012 21,322 — 21,322

Communicating brand values
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Group Cash Flow Statement

for the year ended 31 March 2012

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March
2012 2011
Note £000 £°000
Operating activities
Group profit before tax from continuing operations 5,059 2,857
Adustments to reconcile Group profit before tax to net cash flow from operating actvities
Qperating loss from discontinued operations —_ (7,215)
Net finance costs 1,819 2,337
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,368 2,942
Impairment of property, plant and equipment - 5,850
(Profitloss on disposal of property, plant and equipment {2) 28
Movement in fair value foreign exchange contracts (83) 78
Share-based payments 185 239
Dnfference between pension contributions paid and amounts recogrised in the income statement {1,539) {1,037
Decrease/lincrease) in nventories 156 {2,047)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other recevables 1,260 (2,588)
{Decrease)increase in trade and other payables (304) 7,201
Movement in provisions (9} (12)
Cash generated from operations 8,910 8,633
Income taxes paid {(171) (140)
Net cash flow from operating activities 8,739 8,493
Investing activities
Interest recewed 13 17
Purchase of property, plant and equipment {2,736) {1,153)
Sale of property, plant and equipment 5 21
Sale of subsidiary undertakings — 1,783
Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiary undertakings sold — {296)
Net cash flow from investing activities (2,718) 372
Finanang activities
Interest paid (832) (1,480)
Proceeds from share issues 1 65
Purchase of shares by the Company (1) —
Purchase of shares by Employee Benefit Trust “n (30)
New borrowings 1913 1,214
Repayment of borrowings (996) (5,382}
Net cash flow from financang activities 74 {5,613}
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 6,095 3,252
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 8 13
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the penod 14 2,719 (546)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 14 8,822 2,719

28




AM Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2012 Stock symbol AP

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Group accounting policies

Authonsation of finanaal statements

The Group's financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012 were authonsed for 1ssue by the Board of Directors on 28 May 2012 and
the balance sheet was signed on the Board's behalf by Andrew Turner Group Chief Executive

AP Group plc 1s a public company incorporated and domiciled in England & Wales The Company's ordinary shares are traded on the
Alternative investment Market of the London $tock Exchange

Basis of preparation and statement of compliance with IFRS

The Group's financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention in accordance with International Financial Reperting
Standards (IFRSs} 1ssued by the International Accounting Standards Board {1ASB) as adopted by the European Union as they apply to the
financeal statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2012 and applied in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 The Group
has applied optional exemptions available to 1t under IFRS 1

The consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (£'000) except when
otherwise indicated

Going concern

The Group meets its day-to-day working capital requirements through overdraft and loan facilities, as detailed in Note 16 to the consohdated
finanaial statements The principal facilities relate to the UK and the US These faciliies currently extend to July 2013 and October 2013
respectively

Tie Group has demonstrated further recavery over the financial year ended 31 March 2012 However, the unsettled general economic
environment  particularly in its main European and US markets, could adversely affect demand for its products The Group’s forecasts and
projections, allowing for a possible deterioration in trading performance, show that the Group has a reasonable expectation of being able to
operate within the level of currently available facilities

Accordingly, as set out In the Directors’ Report, the accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis

Accounting policies
The principal accounting pohoes which follow set out those policies which apply in prepanng the financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2012 These policies have been consistently applied to all periods presented unless otherwise stated

The following new and amended standards and interpretations came into effect for accounting periods commencing on or after 1 Apnl 2011
Insofar as they are relevant 1o the Group’s operations, adoption of these revised standards and interpretations did not have any matenal effect
on the financial statements of the Group

1AS 24R — Related party disclosures

IFRS 7 — Financial instruments  disclosures

IFRIC 14 — Prepayments of minimum funding requirement (amendment)
IFRIC 19 — Extinguishing financial labilities with equity instruments
Improvements to IFRSs (issued May 2011)

At the date of the authonsation of these financial statements, the {ollowing standards and interpretations, wihich have not been appled
in these financial statements, were In 1ssue but not yet effective The Directors anticipate that the Group will adopt these standards and
interpretations with effect from the commencement of the first accounting penod after the relevant effective dates
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

continued

1 Group accounting policies continued
International Accounting Standards (J1AS/IFRSs)

JAS 12 — Income taxes (amendment})

IFRS 9 — Financial instruments Classification and measurement
IFRS 10 — Consohdated finangial statements

IFRS 11 — Jont arrangements

IFRS 12 — Disclosure of interests in other entities

IFRS 13 — Fair value measurements

|AS 1 — Presentation of financial statements (amendment)
|IAS 12 — Income taxes (amendment)

145 19 — Employee benefits {amendment)

IAS 27 — Separate financial statements

I1AS 32 — Financial instruments presentation

IFRS 7 — Financial instruments disclosures (amendment)

Effective date
1 January 2012
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 July 2012

1 January 2012
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2014
1 January 2013

WWW apigroup com

Significant jJudgements and estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires management 1o make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported for assets and habilittes as at the balance sheet date and the amounts reparted for revenues and expenses during the year However,
the nature of estimation means that actual outcomes could differ from those estimates Details regarding judgements which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recogmised Iin the financial statements are as follows

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets Goodwall s tested for impairment annually or
at other times when relevant indicators exist Other nan-finanoial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
values may not be recoverable When value-in-use calculations are undertaken, management must esbmate expected cash flows from the
asset or cash generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate to calculate the net present value of those cash flows Further details
regarding impairment of property, plant and equipment and goodwill are given 1n Note 11

Deferred tax assets

Management judgement 1s required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recogmsed based on the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits Further details are given in Note 6

Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

The cost and valuatron of defined benefit pension plans is determined using actuanal valuations This involves making assumptions about
discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary and pension increases and mortality rates Due to the long term nature of
these plans, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty Further details are given in Note 17

Basis of consolidation

The consoldated accounts comprise those of the Parent Company and its subsidhary undertakings for the year ended 31 March 2012 The
results for the subsidiary undertakings are included for the full year except where contrel is acqutred or sold during the year, when results are
included from or to the date of acquisition or sale

All intercompany balances and transactons, including unrealised profits ansing from intra-group transactions, have been eliminated in full

Non-controlling interest represents the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries that is not held by the Group and is presented
within eguity In the consolidated balance sheet, separately from Parent Shareholders’ equity
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Group accounting policies continued

Business combinations and goodwill

On the acquisition of a business, fair values are attributed to the net assets acquired Goodwill arises where the fair value of the consideration
given for a business exceeds the farr value of such net assets

Goodwall ansing on acquisitions is capitalised and subject to impairment review Between 5 October 1997 and 1 October 2004 goodwill was
amortsed over its estmated useful life Such amortisation ceased on 30 September 2004 The Group's policy before 5 October 1997 was to
eliminate goodwill ansing upon acquisitions against reserves Under IFRS 1 and IFRS 3 such goodwill will remain ekminated against reserves

Revenue recognition

Revenue represents amounts invoiced to third parties excluding value added taxes and represents net inveice value less estimated rebates,
returns and settlement discounts It is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the
buyer and the amount of revenue can be rehably measured This is normally the date of dispatch Rebates and discounts are recognised in
accordance with contractual obligations held with customers They are recognised in the penod to which they relate

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attnibutable to the acquisiuon, construction, or production of a qualifying asset form part of the cost of that
asset Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a business that has either been sold or can be classified as a disposal group held for sale in accordance with IFRS
S The profit or loss on discontinued operations comprises the trading results up 1o the date of disposal and the profit or loss on disposal of
businesses sold dunng the year Where businesses meet the definition of discontinued operations during the current year, the comparative
data 1s reclassified to reflect those businesses as discontinued

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment 1s stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses The Group’s policy 15 to
write off the difference between the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment and its residual value systematically aver its estimated
useful ife Annuai reviews are made of the estimated remaining lives and residual values of individual productive assets, taking account of
commercial and technological obsolescence as well as normal wear and tear Under this policy it becomes impractical to indicate average asset
lives exactly but the indicative ranges are as follows

e Freehold buifdings and long leasehald property — 14 1o 50 years
e Plant and machinery — 5 to 20 years
¢ Office and IT equipment — 3 to 10 years

Freehold land is not depreciated

An item of property, plant and equipment s derecogrused upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset Any gain or loss anising on de-recogrition of the asset {calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the iIncome statement in the year the item 1s derecognised

As permiited by IFRS 1, property previously revalued before the transition date of 1 October 2004 has been treated as deemed cost at the
fransiion date

Impatrment of non-finanaal assets

The carrying values of intangible assets are reviewed annually for impairment or if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying
value may not be recoverable Property, plant and equipment is reviewed to ensure that assets are not camed at above therr recoverable
amounts once some indication of iImpairment exists Calculations are made of the discounted cash flows resulting from continued use of the
assets (value-in-use) or from therr disposal (fair value less costs to sell) Where these values are less than the carrying amount of the assets, an
mmpairment loss s charged to the income statement
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

continued

1 Group accounting poliaies continued
Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are capiahsed at cost Intangible assets acquired with a business acquisition are
capitalised at far value at the date of acquisition (f the asset is separable or anses from contractual or other legal nghts and s fair value can
be measured reliably The usefu! lives of intangible assets are assessed as finite or ndefinite Intangible assets created withun the business are
not capitalised and expenditure 15 charged against income as it 15 incurred

Research costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred Development expenditure on an individual project 1s recognised as an intangible asset when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use and for sale, its intention
to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset how the asset will generate future economic benefits the availability of resources to
complete the asset and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development

Leases
Leases where the lessor retains substantally all the nsks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases and rentals
payable are charged in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term

{inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable value Cost 1s determined on a first in, first out basis Cost of work in
progress and fimshed goods comprises the cost of raw matenals, direct labour and overheads attributable to the production of inventory Net
realisable value compnses the estimated selling value less selling costs

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised and carried at onginal invoice value less an allowance for any amounts which may not be
collectable Should an amount become uncollectable, it 1s wntten off to the mcome statementin the perod in which it s idenufied

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equwalents pnincipally comprise funds held with banks and other financial institutions with an enginal matunty of three
months or less For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents are as defined above, net of outstanding
bank overdrafts

Ftnancial habilities — interest-beaning loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recogrused at fair value of the consideration recewed net of 1ssue costs associated with the borrowing
After initial recegnition, nterest-beanng loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cast under the effective interest rate
method

Provisions

Provisions are recogrused when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event 1t i1s probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the
reimbursement 15 recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement 1s wirtually certain The expense relating to any prowvision (s
presented In the income statement net of any reimbursement If the effect of the time value of maoney 15 matenial, provisions are determined
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and,
where appropriate, the nsks speafic to the habiity Where discounting 1s used, the increase in the provision due 10 the passage of tme s
recogmised as a finance cost
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Group accounting policies continued

Taxation

Current tax assets and habilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authonties, based on tax
rates and faws that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date

Deferred income tax 1s recognised on all temporary differences ansing between the tax bases of assets and habilities and thew carrying
amounts (in the finanoal statements, with the following exceptions

® where the temporary difference anses irom the imitial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or hability in a transaction that s not a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss,

e n respect of taxable temporary differences associated with mvestments in subsidianies, where the uming of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it 1s probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, and

o deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that 1t 1s probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, carned forward tax credits or tax losses can be utthised

Deferred income tax assets and habilities are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related
asset 15 reahsed or liabibity 15 settled, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date The carrying
value of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date

Income tax 1s charged or credited directly to equity if it relates 1o items that are credited or charged to equity Otherwise iIncome tax is
recogmised 1n the income statement or other comprehensive Income

Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit pension plans is determined separately for each plan using the projected unit credit
method, which attributes entitlements to benefits to the current period (to determine cusrent service cost) and to the current and pror
penods {to determine the present value of the defined benefit cbligation) and 15 based on actuarial advice Past service costs are recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the vesting period or immediately iIf the benefits have vested When a settlement (eliminating

all obligations for benefits already accrued) or a curtailment éreducing future obligations as a result of a matenal reduction in the scheme
membership or a reduction in the future entitlement) occurs, the obligation and related plan assets are remeasured using current actuarial
assumptions and the resultant gain or loss recognised in the income statement during the period in which the settlement or curtaiiment
oceurs

The interest element of the defined benefit penston cost represents the change in present value of scheme cbligations resulting fram the
passage of time, and 1s determined by applying the discount rate to the opening present value of the benefit obligation, taking into account
matenal changes in the obligation dunng the year The expected return on plan assets is based on an assessment made at the beginning of
the year of long term market returns on scheme assets, adjusted for the effect on the farr value of plan assets of contributions recerved and
benefits paid dunng the year The difference between the expected return on plan assets and the interest cost 1s recognised in the income
statement as other finance income or expense

Actuanal gains and losses are recognised in full in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the periad in which they occur

The defined benefit pension hiability in the balance sheet compnses the 1otal for each plan of the present value of the defined benefit
obhgation {using a discount rate based on high quality corporate bonds), less any past service cost not yet recognised and less fair value of
plan assets out of which the obligations are to be settled directly Fair value ts based on market price information and in the case of quoted
securities 15 the published bid price

Contnbutions to defined contribution schernes are recognised in the income staiement in the penod in which they become payable

The US business contnbutes to a multi-employer defined benefit pension scheme This scheme 15 accounted for as a defined contribution
scheme, as the informauon avallable from the scheme administrators 1s insufficient for 1t to be accounted for as a defined benefit scheme
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

continued

1 Group accounting policies continued
Share-based payments
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees 1s measured by reference 1o the fair value at the date at which they are granted and
1s recogrised as an expense over the vesting penod, which ends on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the
award Fair value 1s determined by using an appropnate priang model In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any
vesting conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the Company (market condittons})

No expense 1s recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting 1s conditional upon market conditions which
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition 1s satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are
satusfied

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense 15 calculated, representing the extent to which the vesting penod has
expired and management’s best estimate of the achievement or otherwise of non-market conditions and of the number of equity instruments
that will ultimately vest or, in the case of an instrument subject to market conditions, be treated as vesting as descnibed above The movement
in cumulative expense since the previous balance sheet date 1s recognised in the income statement, with a corresponding entry In equity

Employee Benefit Trust (the “Trust™}

The Corpany has a discretionary trust established to facilitate the operation of the Company Executive share option schemes and long term
incentive plans Shares in APl Group plc held by the Trust are deducted from equity as treasury shares and are recogmsed at cost Amounts
receved on exercise of these options are also recogrised in equity, with any difference between proceeds from the exercise of these options
and the onginat cost being taken to revenue reserves No gain or loss Is recognised In the performance statements on the purchase, sale, issue
or cancellation of equity shares

Foreign currencies

The assets and habilities of overseas subsidiary undertakings are translated into Sterling at rates ruling at the balance sheet date and trading
items at the average rate for the penod The exchange differences ansing on the translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiary
undertakings are taken directly to a separate component of equity On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recogrised
In equity refating to that particular foreign operation 1s recognised in the income statement

Transactions n foretgn currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction Monetary assets and liabibties denominated 1n
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date All translation differences are taken to the income
statement

Denvative finanaal instruments and hedging

The Group uses dernivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge 1ts nsks assocrated

with foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations Such derivative Instruments are measured at fair value on the date which the derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value at the balance sheet date Dervatives are carned as assets if the faw
value 1s positive and habihiies if the fair value 1s negative The fair value of forward currency contracts 1s calculated by reference to current
forward exchange rates for contracts with simifar matunty profiles The far value of interest rate swaps 1s determined by reference to market
values for similar instruments

Hedge accounting 1s adopted when the hedging relationship 1s formally designated and documented on inception Such hedges are expected
to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine whether they have
been highly effective during the reporting pertod for which they were destgnated Gains and losses arising from the changes in the fair value
of denvatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are taken to finance revenue or finance costs In the income statement

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation are accounted for in a similar way Gains or losses relating to the effective portian are
recognised directly in equity while any gains or losses relating to the tneflective portion are recognised in the income statement On the
disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of any gans or losses recognised directly in equity 1s transferred to the income
statement
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2 Segmental analysis
The Group produces monthly management information 1o enable the Board, including the Group Chief Executive, to monitor the financial
performance of its constituent parts This information 15 analysed by business unit Following the disposal of the China business in 2011,
the residual businesses within the Asia Pacific unit are now managed and reported within the Foils Europe business unit The Holographics
business unit 15 now managed and reported separately from Foils Europe and comparative figures have been adjusted accordingly

Revenue
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2012 201
£000 £:000
Continuing operations
Total revenue by ongin
Foils Europe 29,158 28,429
Foils Americas 23,446 23,151
Holographues 13,015 10775
Laminates 54,823 44 321
120,442 106,676
Inter-segmental revenue
Foils Europe 980 1,095
Foils Americas 566 733
Holographtes 4,868 4 855
Laminates 93 30
6,507 6,713
External revenue by origin
Foils Europe 28,178 27,334
Folls Americas 22,880 22418
Holographics 8,147 5,920
Laminates 54,730 44 291
Segment revenue 113,935 99,963
External revenue by destination
Continuing operations
UK 32,778 36 831
Rest of Europe 48,243 33,213
Americas 21,105 21,264
Asia Pacific 6,062 7,898
Afnca 747 7107
113,935 99,963
Discontinued operations
Europe —_ 895
Asia Pacific — 6,530
— 7,425

All revenue 1s derived from the sale of goods

During the year ended 31 March 2012 there were two major customers, reported within the Laminates segment, which compnised 0% or
maore of the total external revenue, amounting to £19,841,000 (2011 £14,696,000) and £17,601,000 (2011 £11,880,000) respectively
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

continued

2 Segmental analysis continued
Segment result
Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March
2012 2011
£000 £000
Continuing operations
Operating profit
Foils Europe 389 857
Foils Amencas 1,173 244
Holegraphics 1,615 567
Laminates 5,704 5,245
Segment result 8,881 6,913
Central costs {2,003) {1,719}
Total operating profit 6,878 5,194

Central costs comprise pamarnly of salarnies, other employment costs and corporate advisory fees relating to the central management of
the Group

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2012 2011,
£'000 £:000

Assets

Foils Europe 17,082 18,104
Foils Amenicas 13,552 14,385
Holographics 6,915 6,661
Lamunates 13,276 11,637
Segment assets 50,825 50,787
Unallocated 15,825 10,209
66,650 60 996
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3 Operating profit

Stack symbol AP

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2012 2011
£000 £:000
This 1s stated after charging/{crediting)
Research and development expenditure expensed duning the period 718 722
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,367 2,942
{Profit)/loss on disposal of praperty, plant and equipment 2) 28
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 64,246 59,141
Including write-down of inventeries to net realisable value 481 186
Net foreign currency differences 8 (48)
Operaung lease payments — minimum lease payments 1,054 1.018
Audit of the financial staternents 79 77
Other fees payable to the Group’s Auditor
— audit of the UK defined benefit pension scheme 5 5
— local statutory audits for subsidiaries 73 67
— other services — 2
Costs assocrated with major flood at US factory (see below) 690 —
Insurance recovery in respect of the flood (see below) {747} —

In August 2011, the manufacturing facility in New Jersey, US, sustained significant damage due to flooding caused by Hurricane Irene The

costs relating to the damage have been recovered through insurance

4 Staff costs and Directors’ emoluments

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2012 20m

£'000 £°000

Wages and salaries 20,220 21,161
Social security costs 2,028 1,940
Defined contnbution pension costs 701 710
22,949 23,811

In 2011, staff costs included £1,109,000 in respect of discontinued actvities

Included in wages and salanes 1s a charge relating to share-based payments of £185,000 (2011 £239,000)

Details of share-based payments are included in Note 19
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

continued

4 Staff costs and Directors’ emoluments continued
The average monthly number of employees (excluding Non-executive Directors) during the perrod was made up as follows

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2012 201

No No

Foils Europe 189 190
Foils Americas 143 142
Holographics 101 29
Laminates 100 93
Central 7 7
Continuing operations 540 521
Discontinued operations — 150
540 671

Directors’ emoluments
Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March
2012 2011
£000 £'000
Tota!l
Aggregate emoluments 765 786
Contrnibutions te defined contribution schemes (2 Directors) 36 35
801 821
Highest paid Director
Aggregate emoluments 383 408
Contributions to defined contribution schemes 22 21
405 429
None of the current Directors are members of the defined benefit pension scheme
Further detals retating to Directors' emoluments are shown on pages 18 to 19
5 Finance revenue and finance costs
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2012 201
£000 £000
Finance revenue
Interest recevable on bank and other short term cash deposits 3 2
Other interest recevable 10 15
12 17
Finance costs
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts (1,045) (1,356)
Other interest payable (49) 24)
Finance cost In respect of defined benefit pension plans (738) (974)
(1,832) (2,354)
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6 Taxation
{a) Tax (expensed)/credited in the income statement
Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March
2012 2011
£000 £°000
Continuing operations
Current income tax
UK Corporation tax —_ -
Overseas tax — current year expense (101) (135)
— adjustments in respect of prior years {19) (37
Total current income tax expense (120) {172)
Deferred tax
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences
— defined benefit pension plan (209) an
— tax losses (174) 466
— capital allowances 448 (443)
— eflect of change n 1ax rate (50) (99)
Total deferred tax (expense)/credit 15 (93)
Total tax expense in the income statement (105) (265)

(b) Tax expense on 1tems accounted for through other comprehensive income
Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2012 2011

Deferred tax £000 £'000
Actuanal gains and losses on defined pension schemes (78) {1,845)
Change in fair value of effective cash flow hedges (94) —
Effect of change In tax rate (247) {259)
{(419) {2,104)

(c) Tax credst on items accounted for directly through equity
Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2012 2011

Deferred tax £'000 £'000
Share-based payments 87 —
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

continued

6 Taxation continued
{d) Reconaliation of the total tax charge
The tax rate in the income statement for the year 1s lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 26% (2011 28%) The
differences are reconciled below
Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2012 20m

£000 £000

Profit before taxation from continuing operations 5,059 2,857
Loss before taxation from discontinued operations — 4,124)
Accounting profitfloss} before income tax 5,059 (1,267)
Accounting profitfloss) muttiphed by the UK standard rate of corporation tax of 26% (2011 28%) 1,315 (355)
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of pnor penod 19 37
Adjustments in respect of foreign tax rates 22 18
Increase in deferred tax asset recognised on losses and capital allowances {1,346} 1,111)
Losses for which deferred tax is not recognised 43 213
Cther temporary differences for which deferred tax 15 not recognised (90} 196
Effect of change in tax rate 50 99
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 92 154
Profit on sale of subsidiaries not subject to tax —_ (904)
Total tax expense reported in the income statement 105 265

(e) Unrecogrised tax losses

The Group has unrecognised tax losses ansing in the UK of £4,246,000 (2011 £3,355,000) that are avarlable and may be offset against
future taxable profits of those businesses in which the losses arose The UK tax Group also has unrecogmised capital allowances of £5,442,000
(2011 £8,677,000) available to offset agamst future taxable profits at the rate of 18% (2011 20%) a year on a reduang balance basis The
Group has unrecogmised US federal tax losses carred forward of $12,584,000 (2011 $15,124,000), which are available for offset against
future profits for a period of between 10 and 20 years

{f) Deferred tax
The deferred tax included in the balance sheet is analysed as follows

31 March 31 March
2012 2011
£000 £7000
Deferred tax hability
Revaluation of fixed assets (220} (238}
Fair value of cash flow hedges (87} —
(307) (238)
Deferred tax asset
Defined benefit pension plans 2,068 2,527
Tax losses 1,736 2036
Caprtal allowances 4,258 915
Share-based payments 168 —_
5,230 5,478

On 21 March 2012 the UK Government announced a reduction in the main rate of UK corporation tax rate to 24% with effect from

1 Apnl 2012 This change became substantively enacted on 29 March 2012 and therefore the effect of the rate reduction creates a reduction

in the total deferred tax asset which has been induded in the figures shown above This change will also reduce the Group's future current tax
charge accordingly The UK Government also proposed changes to further reduce the main rate of corporation tax by 1% per annum to 22%
by 1 Apnl 2014 The overall effect of the further seductions from 24% to 22%, if these apphed to the total deferred tax balance at 31 March

2012, would be to reduce the deferred tax asset by approximately £297,000
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7 Discontinued operations

Stock symbol AP

Discontinued operations in respect of the comparative period relates pnimarily to the Group's investrent w a 51% owned subsidhary in China,

which was sold by the Group i January 2011

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2012 201

£000 £'000

Revenue — External —_ 7,425

— Intra-Group - 619

- 8,044

Cost of sales — (8,098)

Gross loss - (54)

Other operating costs — (1,311)

Operating loss before exceptional items - {1,365)
Exceptional items

Imparrment of property plant and equipment (see below) — {5,850}

Operating loss from discontinued operations — (7.215)

Finance costs — {138)

Loss on discontinued activities before taxation — {7,353)

Taxation — —

Loss on discontinued activities after taxation of China business — (7,353)

Profit on disposal of discontinued operations — 3,229

Loss on discontinued operations per the iIncome Statement — (4,124)

Following the decision to exit the China business in September 2010, the carrying value of property, plant and equipment was imparred to

bring the asset value down to the expected realisable proceeds from sale

The profit on disposal of discontinued operations was made up as follows

Year ended
31 March
2012

£000

Year ended
31 March
2011
£:000

Profit on disposal of China business

Exchange gains on translation relating 1o the China business transferred from the foreign exchange reserve —

444
2,550

Profit on disposal of China business after transfer from foreign exchange reserve
Adjustment to prior year losses on dispasal of discontinued businesses

2,994
235

3,229

The adjustment to prior year losses on disposal of discontinued businesses n 2011 related to the reversal of accrued legal fees connected with

a pnior business disposal

Net cash flows relating to discontinued activities
The net cash flows attribuiable to discontinued operations waere as follows

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2012 2011

£'000 £'000
Operating activities — 783
Investing activities —_— 1,477
Financing actities - (813)

—_ 1,447
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8 Earnings per ordinary share

Basic earnings per share Is calculated by dividing the net profiif{loss) {or the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Parent by the

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding dunng the year

Diluted earnings per share 1s calculated by dividing the net profit(loss) attnbutable to ordinary equrty holders of the Parent by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding durning the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be 1ssued on

the converston of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2012 20114

£'000 £'000

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Parent — continuing operations 4,954 2,592
Loss attnbutable to equity holders of the Parent — discontinued operations —_ {612)
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Parent 4,954 1,980
Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2012 201

No No

Basic weighted average number of ordinary shares 73,857,692 73,447 050
Dilutive effect of employee share opticns and contingent shares 3,974,702 2,443,955
Diluted weighted average number of shares 77,832,394 75,891,005

The basic weighted average number of shares excludes the 3,000,000 shares owned by the API Group plc No 2 Employee Benefit Trust (2011

3,058,221) These contingent shares are icluded in the diluted weighted average number of shares

There have been no other transactions involving ordmary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date and the date of

completion of these financial statements

Earnings/(loss) per ordinary share

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2012 20m
pence pence
Continuing operations
Basic earmings per share 67 35
Dnluted earnings per share 64 34
Discontinued operations
Basic loss per share — {08)
Drluted loss per share o (08
Total
Basic earnings per share 67 27
Diluted earnings per share 64 26
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9 Property, plant and equipment

Stock symbol AR

Long Office
Freehold Freehold leasehold land Plant & and IT
land buldings & buitdings machinery equipment Total
£:000 £'000 £'000 £ 000 £'000 £'000
Cost
At 1 Apnl 2010 2,265 8,054 10,030 59,824 6,861 87,034
Additions — 14 — 950 189 1,153
Disposals — — — (86} (370) (456)
Disposal of subsidiary — —_ {8,330} (13,124) — (21,454)
Foreign currency adjustment (107) (391) N (736} {120) (1,361)
At 31 March 2011 2,158 7,677 1,693 46,828 6,560 64,916
Addivons — — - 3,230 258 3,488
Disposals — — — (565} (145) (710)
Foreign currency adjustment 6 23 — 6 8) 27
At 31 March 2012 2,164 7.700 1,693 49,499 6,665 67,721
Depreciation
ALT Aprll 2010 — 2,990 1,631 48,858 4,783 58,262
Provided during the year — 226 240 1,956 520 2,942
impairment dunng the period (see Note 7) — — 4,438 1,412 — 5,850
Disposals — —_ — (85) (322} (407)
Dispasal of subsidiary — - (5,442} (12,220 — (17,662}
Foreign currency adjustment — (226) (1) (539) {107} (873)
At 31 March 2011 — 2,990 B66 39,382 4,874 48,112
Provided during the year — 203 57 1,636 471 2,367
Disposals — - — {561) (145) (706)
Foreign currency adjustment _ 13 — 3 4) 12
At 31 March 2012 — 3,206 923 40,460 5.196 49,785
Net book vatue at 31 March 2012 2,164 4,494 770 9,039 1,469 17,936
Net book value at 31 March 2011 2158 4,687 827 7,446 1,686 16,804
Net book value at 31 March 2010 2,265 5,064 8 399 10,966 2,078 28,772

Construction work-in-progress

Included i the cost of property, plant and equipment 1s £2,878,000 (2011 £168,000, 2010 £nil} refating to construction work-m-progress

Security

The Group's UK borrowings of £11,514,000 (2011 £10,196,000) are secured by fixed and floating charges on the UX assets of the Group
mcluding fixed assets to the value of £10,076,000 (2011 £8,397,000) The US loans of £887,000 (2011 £1,034,000} are pledged against
property, plant and equipment to the value of £5,598,000 (2011 £6,184,000)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

continued

10 Intangible assets — goodwll

1"

£:000
Cost
At 31 March 2010 6,480
Disposal of cash generating umt (Foils — China) (1,292)
At 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2012 5,188
Impairment
At 31 March 2010 1,292
Disposal of cash generating unit (Foils — China) {1,292)
At 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2012 _
Carrying value
At 31 March 2010, 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2012 5,188

As from 1 October 2004, the date of transrtion to IFRS, goodwill was no longer amortised {previously amortised over a penod up 1o 20 years)
but 1s now subject to annual iImpairment testing

Carrying amount of goodwill allocated to cash generating units

£°000
Foils Europe — UK 2,538
Folls Europe — Germany 964
Holographics 1,686
At 31 March 2010, 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2012 5,188

Impairment of non-financial assets
The Directors have reviewed impairment tests at 31 March 2012 for cash generating units that have a goodwill allocation and for any of these
units or other units in the Group that have indrcators of impawrment of property, plant and equipment

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated for imparment testing purposes to the following cash generating units,
as follows

o Foils Europe — UK,
¢ Foils Europe — Germany, and
e Holographics

These represent the lowest level within the Group at which goodwill 1s monitored for internal management purposes The value of goodwill
allocated to these units 15 listed in Note 10

The recoverable amount of each of the cash generating units has been determined on a value-in-use basis Value-in-use 15 calculated as the
net present value of pre-tax cash flows based on budgets for the year ended 31 March 2013 and forecasts for the following 3 years which
have been approved by the Board The cash flows were derived from business plans, including detailed sales forecasts by product type

and geography, prepared by indvidual businesses within each dwvision These include an allowance for detaited capital and maintenance
programmes The cash fiows have been extrapofated for a peniod of 15 years using the key assumptions of long term growth rates of 3% 10
3 5% {2011 3% to 3 5%) and cost inflaton of 2% to 3% (2011 2% to 3%;} applicable to the location of each cash generating unit A pre-
tax discount rate of 8 5% (2011 8 8%) has been used, which was considered a best estimate for the nisk-adjusted cost of capital for

the Group

The Directors beheve that no reasonable possible change i any of the key assumptions would cause the carrying value of the units to exceed
therr recoverable amounts
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12 Trade and other receivables

31 March 31 March
2012 2011
£:000 £000
Amounts falling due within cne year

Trade recewables 13,773 14,928
Prepayments 1.201 1,298
Other debtors 510 622
15,485 16,848

Amounts falling due after more than one year
Other debtors 32 94

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on between 30 and 90 days' terms They are shown net of any prowsions for
impairment At 31 March 2012, trade recevables at a nominal value of £161,000 (2011 £179,000) were impaired and fully provided for
Movements in the prowision for impairment of receivables were as follows

31 March 31 March

2012 2011

£000 £°000
Qpening provision 179 384
Charge for the year 42 12
Amounts written off {53} (55)
Unused amounts reversed (5} {11)
Disposal of subsidiary - {144)
Foreign currency adjusiment (2) (7)
Closing provision 161 179

Of the total trade recevables shown above, £1,271,000 (2011 £1,279,000) are past due, but not impaired An analysis of these trade
receivables 1s as follows

31 March 31 March

2012 20N

£'000 £:000

0-30 days overdue 984 666
31-60 days overdue 180 356
61-90 days overdue 89 109
91+ days overdue 18 148
1,271 1,279

Due to the nature and number of the Group’s customers, it 15 not practical to analyse the credit quality of trade recevables that are neither
past due nor impaired Credit nsk anses from the possibility that customers may not be able to settle their obligations as agreed Customers
are assessed for financial reliability using external rating agencies Secure payment terms are frequently used in riskter geographical areas
or for riskier customers In determining the level of credit insurance placed, the Group continually monitors the market to assess the cost of
premiums compared to the credit nisks assoaated with different market and product sectors At 31 March 2012, the maximum exposure to
credit nsk in respect of trade recevables, after taking account of credit insurance, was £7,063,000 (2011 £7,314,000)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

continued

13 Inventories

31 March 31 March

2012 20n

£'000 £000

Raw materials 3,732 4,324
Work in progress 1,322 1,358
Finished goods 7,183 6,727
12,237 12,409

14 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents compnse the following

31 March 31 March

2012 201

£:000 £ 000

Short term deposits 6,000 —_
Cash at bank and in hand 4,068 4,175
Cash and short term deposits 10,068 4,175
Bank overdrafts (Note 16) {1,246) (1.456)
8,822 2,719

Cash at bank and on deposit are held at major banks with hugh quality credit ratings The maximum exposure to credit sk 1s represented by
therr respective carrying values

15 Trade and other payables

31 March 31 March

2012 2011

£'000 £'000

Trade payables 16,477 16,868
Other payables 5,784 5,084
22,261 21,952
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16 Finanaal liabilities

31 March 31 March
2012 201
£000 £'000
Current
Bank overdrafts 1,246 1,456
Current instalments due on bank loans 3,196 779
Interest rate swaps 80 97
Forward fareign exchange contracts — 498
4,522 2,830
Non-current
Non-current instalments due on bank loans 9,205 10,451
Interest rate swaps 32 63
9,237 10,514

In the UK, the Group has taken out an interest rate swap for the period 2 August 2010 to 1 November 2012 for a fixed amount of £5m In
the US interest rate swaps have been taken out for the period 1 July 2010 to 30 October 2013 for fixed and amortising amounts totalling
$3 Om at 31 March 2012 (2011 $3 3m} Details of these swaps are given m Note 21

Bank loans
Bank loans compnse the following
31 March 31 March
2012 201
£'000 £'000
Term loans {UK) 11,514 10,196
Term loans {UIS) 887 1,034
12,401 11,230
Less current instalments due on bank loans (3,196) (779)
9,205 10,451

The Group's banking faciities comprise

UK facilities

The Group’s lending arrangements in the UK are with Barclays Bank PLC At 31 March 2012, UX faciities compnsed a term loan of £5 7m
repayable between Apni 2012 and July 2013 (2011 £6 4m repayable between April 2011 and July 2043} and a term loan of £3 8m repayable
in July 2013 (2011 £3 8m repayable in July 2013) Duning the year, a new loan of £2 Om was negotiated, repayable between June 2012 and
Apnl 2013 In addition, there 1s a mulu-option overdrait facility of £5 Om (2011 £3 5m) Interest cost for the penod averaged 3 4% (2011

5 0%} above LIBOR for term loans and 3 3% (2011 3 6%) above Base Rate for the overdraft The total debt under committed and revolving
faailies is subject to four quarterty financial covenant targets reflecting the financiat performance of the Group excuding the tmpact of the
Foils Americas business unit Covenanis are for Debt Cover, Total Service Payments Cover, Senior Interest Cover and Tangible Net Worth At
31 March 2012, Debt Cover, the ratio of net debit to 12 month traling EBITDA, was 0 3% (2011 1 0x) and this and all other covenant ratios
were comfortably within targets

Us faabties

The US facilities are with Wells Fargo At 31 March 2012 they compnsed amortising loans of $1 5m repayable between Apnl 2012 and
October 2013 (2011 $1 8m repayable between Apnl 2011 and Qctober 2013) and a revolving credit faciity of up 10 $5 Sm (2011 $5 Sm),
depending on the level of working capital Interest cost for the period averaged 4 $% (2011 4 S%} above LIBOR for the term loans and 3 8%
(2011 3 8%} above LIBOR {or the credit facility The total debt outstanding 1s subject 1o quarterly covenant obligations relating to profitability,
net worth and cash flow Dunng the year to 31 March 2012 the US business met all its covenant abligations The US faciities are secured on
working capitaf to the value of £5,823,000 (2011 £6,040,000)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

continued

17 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits
The Group operates a number of pension schemes Current UK employees participate » a defined contnbution scheme Overseas employees
participate in a vanety of different pension arrangements of the defined contribution type and are funded in accordance with local practice
A non-contributory scheme s operated for members of the North New Jersey Teamsters 11 Union employed at the Company’s site in
Rahway, New Jersey This scheme 1s a multi-employer defined benefit scheme which 1s accounted for as a defined contnibution scheme, as the
information available from the scheme adrministrators is insufficient for 11 to be accounted for as a defined benefit scheme Under the rules of
the scheme the employer 1s not hable for any defiait of the scheme unless it wathdraws from the scheme

In the UK, a defined benefit pension scheme, the APl Group Pension and Life Assurance Scheme, was cdlosed to future accrual in December
2008 This was a funded pension scheme for the Company and its UK subsidianes providing benefits based on final pensicnable earnings,
funded by the payment of contributions io a separately administered trust fund A second defined benefit scheme, operated in the US the
APl Foils, Inc North American Pension Plan, 1s also closed to future accrual

The assets and habilities of the defined benefit schemes are

At 31 March 2012

United United
Kingdom States Total
£000 £000 £000
Equities 34,508 778 35,286
Bonds 21,174 920 22,004
Hedge Funds 10,624 — 10,624
Property — 71 71
Cash 6,960 — 6,960
Fair value of scheme assets 73,266 1,769 75,035
Present value of scheme habilities (80,821) (2,832) {83,653}
Net pension hability (7.555) {1,063) {8,618)
At 31 March 2011
United United
Kingdom States Total
£000 £'000 £000
Equities 42,347 772 43,119
Bonds 28,327 951 29,278
Property — 72 72
Cash 139 — 139
Fair value of scheme assets 70,813 1,795 72,608
Present value of scheme habilitres (79,843) (2,484} (82,327)
Net pension lability (9,030) (689) (9,719}
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The amounts recognised in the Group Income Statement and Group Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year are as follows

Year ended 31 March 2012

United United
Kingdom States Total
£000 £'000 £000
Recognised in the income Statement
Recognised in arrving af aperating profit _ — —
Expected return on scheme assets (4,397) (119) (4,516)
Interest cost on scheme liabilities 4,354 119 4,470
Scheme expenses borne by employers 784 — 784
Other finance cost 738 — 738
Taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income
Actual return on scheme assets 4,641 56 4,697
Less expected return on scheme assets (4.397) (119) (4,516)
244 (63) 181
Other actuarial gains and losses 485 (366) 119
Actuanal gains and losses recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 729 (429} 300
Year ended 31 March 2011
United United
Kingdom States Total
£000 £000 £000
Recognised In the Income Statement
Recognised in arriving at operating profit —_ — —
Expected return on scheme assets {4.273) (128} (4,401)
Interest cost on scheme habilities 4,662 129 4,791
Scheme expenses borne by employers 584 — 584
Other finance cost 973 1 974
Taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income
Actual return on scherne assets 4,960 163 5,123
Less expected return on scheme assets (4,273) (128) {4,401}
687 35 722
Other actuarial gains and losses 5,993 (129) 5,864
Actuanal gains and losses recogmised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 6,680 (94) 6 586
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

continued

17 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits continued
The major assumptions used in determining the value of the defined benefit schemes are disclosed below

United Kingdom United States

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March

2012 2011 2012 2011

k) % % %
Rate of increase in pensions in payment 220 250
Rate of increase to deferred pensions 220 250

Inflation 220 250 300 300

Discount rate 485 555 450 500

Expected rates of return on scheme assets 520 632 675 750
Equities 605 730
Bonds 4 00 485
Hedge Funds 605 nfa
Cash 050 050

Post-retirement mortality (in years)

Current pensioners at 65 — male 203 200
Current penstoners at 65 — female 2213 221
Future pensioners at 65 — male 220 218
Future penstoners at 65 — female 243 241

These assumptions have been selected after consultation with the Group s UK pension adwisers, KPMG LLP and the Group's US actuaries,
Prudential Retirement

The rate of increase in pensions and the inflation rate assumptions i the UK are based on staustics pubbshed by the Bank of England for
long term estimates of the Retall Price Index ("RPI”) At 31 March 2012, the relevant inflation rate based on the RPI for the duration of the
UK Scheme was 3 2% (2011 3 5%) The statutory basis of indexation used by the Scheme 1s based on the Cost Price Index {"CPI") It1s
estimated that the long 1erm CPl s approximately 1 0% (2011 1 0%) lower than the RPI A 0 1% vanation in the inflation rate would result
in 3 change in the present value of the scheme habilities of approxsmately £0 9m (2011 £0 9m)

The discount rate for the UK scheme has been set by reference to the iBoxx AA corparate bond 15-year index The rate has been modified to
take account of the duration of the scheme, which 1s approximately 18 years A 0 1% vanation in the discount rate would result i a change
in the present value of the scheme labilities of approximately £1 4m (2011 £1 4m)

In the UK, the mortality assumptions for both the current and previous years are based on nationally published tables using 130% of the
S1P*A YoB CMI 2009 model with 1 25% long term rate of improvement In the US, mortality assumptions are in accordance with the IRS

Static Mortahty tables for the relevant year

Scheme assets are stated at their market values at the respective batance sheet dates and overall expected rates of return are established by
applying published brokers’ forecasts to each category of scheme assets

Following closure of the UK Scheme to future accrual, the Group has agreed to make contnbutions up to 2019 in order to make up the
funding shertfall The agreed contnibutions for the year ended 31 March 2013 are £700 000
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17 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits continued

Changes In the present value of the defined benefit obligations are analysed as follows

Stock symbol AP

United United
Kingdom States Total

£'000 £000 £'000
At 1 Apnl 2010 83,863 2,464 86,327
Interest cost 4,662 129 4,791
Benefits paid (2,689) (102) 2,791)
Actuanal gains and losses {5,993) 129 (5,864)
Foreign currency differences — (136) (136)
At 31 March 2011 79,843 2,484 82,327
Interest cost 4,351 118 4,470
Benefits paid (2,888) (1486) (3,034)
Actuanal gains and losses (485) 366 (119
Foreign currency differences — 9 9
At 31 March 2012 80,821 2,832 83,653
Changes m the fair value of the defined benefit assets are analysed as follows

United United

Kingdom States Total

£'000 £'000 £ 000
At 1 Apni 2010 68,142 1,779 69,921
Expected return on plan assets 4,273 128 440
Employer contnbutions 400 51 451
Benefits paid (2.689) {102 {2,791)
Actuanal gains and losses 687 35 722
Foreign currency differences — {96) (96)
At 31 March 2011 70,813 1,795 72,608
Expected return on plan assets 4397 119 4516
Employer contnbutions 700 58 758
Benefits paid (2,888) {146) (3,034)
Actuanal gains and losses 244 (63) 181
Foreign currency differences — 6 6
At 31 March 2012 73,266 1,769 75,035
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17 Pensions and other past-retirement benefits continued

18

History of experience gains and losses

Eighteen
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended months ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March

2012 201 2010 2009 2008

£000 £'000 £ 000 £'000 £:000
United Kingdom
Fair value of scheme assets 73,266 70,813 68,142 55,312 64,851
Present value of defined benefit obligation (80.821) (79,843) (83,863) (61,630 (68,178)
Deficit in the scheme (7.555) (9,030} (15,721) {6,318) (3,327)
Experience adjustments ansing on plan habihtes 7,033 — (100} 395 2,926
Expenence adjustments anising on plan assets 244 687 12,772 (11,289) {3,191}
United States
Fair value of scheme assets 1,769 1,795 1,779 1447 1,459
Present value of defined benefit obligation (2,832) {2 484) (2,464) (2,210 (1,614)
Deficit in the scheme (1,063) (689) (685) (763) {155)
Experence adjustments arising on plan habilities a0 (%) (74) 24 {14)
Experience adjustments ansing on plan assets (63) 35 298 (536) (30)

The cumulative amount of actuarial gains recognised since 1 QOctober 2004 in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income 1s £421,000
(2011 £121,000) The Directors are unable to determine how much of the pension scheme deficit recognised on transition to IFRS and taken
directly to equity of £13,099,000 1s attributable to actuaral gains and losses since inception of those schemes Cansequently, the Directors are

unable to determune the amount of actuanal gains and losses that would have been recognised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive
Income before 1 October 2004

Share capital
Allotted, called up and fully paid
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2012 2011 2012 2011
thousands thousands £000 £000
Ordinary shares of 1p 76,749 76,633 767 766

On 12 December 2011 115,668 shares of 1p were 1ssued at par for a consideration of £1,000 These shares were acquired by the Company
and transferred to an employee in respect of the exercise of nit cost share options

In the year ended 31 March 2011, 3,000,000 shares were 1ssued to the AFI Group plc No 2 Employee Benefit Trust for a consideration of
£30,000 and 3,506,336 shares were issued to Barclays Bank PLC in respect of the exeraise of warrants for a consideration of £35,000

During the current and previous years, no options were granted over the ordinary shares Full exercise of the options granted under the
Company's share option schemes would result «n the issue, not later than Septermnber 2018, of nil shares (2011 45,000 shares) at 65 Sp and
614,250 shares (2011 1 669,273 shares} at nil cost

Capital Management

The pnmary purpose of the Group's capital management is to ensure the maintenance of healthy capital ratios in order to support day-to-day
business operations and the achievement of strategic objectives The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the
hght of changes in economic conditions and the financial position of the Group Capital which comprises total equity, 1s monitored using

normal financial ratios, pnmarily geanng for the Group overall and a debt cover ratio associated with the mamn bank facilities in the UX The
ratios at 31 March 2012 are disclosed in the Business Review on pages 7 1o 1
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19 Share-based payments

Duning the year, an amount of £185,000 was charged to the income statement (2011 £239,000) in respect of share-based payments This
compnses £17,000 (2011 £175,000) in respect of share options and £168,000 (2011 £64,000) in respect of contingent shares under the
Long Term Incentive Plan Al share-based payment plans are equity-settled

Share Options

Share options remaining in place at 31 March 2012 are nil cost options which are all exercisable The ability to exercise these options was
conditional on the atiainment of specified performance targets based on profits before tax over a three year performance penod The options
{apse if they are not exercised wathin ten years of the date of grant

The following table details the number and weighted average exercise price (WAEP) of, and movements in, share options during the year

31 March 2012 31 March 2011

No WAEP (p) No WAEP (p)
Qutstanding at beginning of year 1,714,273 17 3,049,008 10
Granted dunng the year — — - —
Exercised during the year (208,632) — — —
Surrendered during the year — —_ (772 093) —
Forfeited during the year — — (377,267 —_
Expired duning the year (891,391) (33) (185 375) —
Qutstanding at end of year 614,250 —_ 1,714 273 17
Exercisable at end of year 614,250 —_ 45,000 65 5

The weighted average share price of shares exercised at the date of exercise was 38 9p
For share options outstanding at the end of the year, the weighted average remaining contractual hfe 15 6 1 years (2011 7 1 years)

Long Term Incentive Plan

In the previous year, the two Executive Directors (Andrew Turner and Chris Smith) entered into a long term incentive plan (“LTIP*) covering
the peniod 1 Apnl 2011 to 31 March 2015 under which they were granted a single award of up to 3,000,000 contingent shares for a five year
term Under the terms of the LTIR 3,000,000 ordinary shares of 1p {“Shares”) were 1ssued to the AP Group ple No 2 Employee Benefit Trust
(the “Trust”) The farr value of these awards s 16 Op

The Executive Directors will be entitled to earn Shares following the finangial years ending 31 March 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2815 based

on a set of performance criteria reflecting increases in Shareholder value The maximum number of Shares available on each occasion will

be unrestricted, subject to the overall hmi of the size of the award for the five year penod Any earned entitlernent will be satsshied by
transferring Shares, at nil cost, from the Trust to the Directors At the end of the performance period, residual, unearned Shares will remain in
the Trust and will be available for use under a successor LTIP or any other employee benefit scheme

There were no movements regarding the LTIP during the year ended 31 March 2012 There are 3,000 000 Shares held in the Trust which can
potentially be transferred to the Directors under the LTIP

Following the financial year ended 31 March 2012, the Remuneration Commuttee has determined, in accordance with the scheme rules and
based on the performance critena reflecting increases in Shareholder value, that 963,093 of the contingent shares held by the Executive
Directors in the Company's ordinary shares of 1p had vested
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20 Reserves
Other reserves
Other reserves of £8,816,000 {2011 £8,565,000} compnse the caprtal redermnption reserve £8,846,000 and a defiat of £30,000 (2011
£281,000) 1n the ESOP reserve

The capital redempuon reserve arose from the canceltation of 549 Q00 preference shares of £1 each in March 1999 and the cancellation of
34,570,000 deferred shares of 24p {£8,2597,000) i the year ended 31 March 2009

The ESOP reserve relates 1o shares held by the APl Group plc No 2 Employee Benefit Trust {the “Trust”), established in 1997 to faciitate the
operation of the Company's Executive share schemes At 31 March 2011 the trust held 58,221 shares acquired at an average cost of £4 27
and 3,000,000 shares acquired at par value of 1p During the year to 31 March 2012, the trust acquired 34,743 shares for a consideration of
£11,000 Subsequently, 92,964 shares were transferred to an employee in respect of the exercise of nil cost options At 31 March 2012 the
trust held 3,000,000 shares at an average cost of £0 01 per share and a total cost of £30,000 (2011 3,058,221 shares at an average cost of
£0 09 per share and a total cost of £281,000)

Foreign exchange reserve
The foreign exchange reserve of £255,000 {2011 £259,000) 1s used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the

financial statements of foreign subsidianes, net of differences ansing on net asset hedges

21 Financial instruments
Details of the treasury operations and funding of the Group are described in the Business Review on pages 7 to 11

Liquidity profile
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's finanaial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments

At 31 March 2012

Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years Total
£000 £000 £000 £000
Non-derivative financial habilities 4,688 9,258 — 13,946
Interest on financial habilities 455 120 — 575
Trade and other payables 21,562 — - 21,562
interest rate swaps 80 32 —_ 112
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Payable 19,454 4,397 —_ 23,851
Recewable (19,922) (4,403) — (24,325)
At 31 March 2011
Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years Total
£'000 £'000 £ 000 £ 000
Non-dernvative financial habilities 2,448 1,942 8,754 13,144
Interest on financal habibities 539 515 144 1,198
Trade and other payables 21,194 —_— — 21,194
Inferest rate swaps 97 60 3 160
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Payable 13,991 — — 13,99
Receivable {13,493) — — {13,493)
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21 Fthancal instruments continued

Fair values of financial assets and habihties

The farr values of financial assets and habilities are determined 1o be equivalent to their book values The Group uses a fair value hierarchy
for determining and dtsclosing the far values of financial instruments by valuation technigue, In accordance with IFRS 7 All of the financial
nstruments held by the Group are included in the Level 2 hierarchy other techmques for which all Inputs which have a significant effect on
the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly

Credit nisk
The Group's credit nsk refates to cash at bank and on deposit and trade receivables Details are disciosed in Notes 12 and 14 respectively

Equity price risk
Equity price nisks are not applicable to the Group as it does not currently have any tradable investrments

Interest rate risk
The followang table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change In interest rates, with all other vanables held constant, of the
Group's profit before tax The impact on the Group's equity Is not significant

Effect on

profit

Increase before tax

In Interest rate £000

2012 +1% (67)
2011 +1% (59)

Foreign currency nisk

The following table demonstrates the sensivity to a reasonably possible change in the Sterling against the US Dollar and Euro exchange rates,
with all other variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax and equity due to foreign exchange translation of monetary assets and
Irabilities

Increase/ Effect on

decrease in profit Effect on
Sterling vs before tax equity
US Dallar/Eurc £000 £'000

2012
US Dollar/Sterling +10% 54 (17)
-10% (59 19
Euro/Sterling +10% 22 1.878
-10% (24) (2,074)

20m
US Dollar/Sterling +10% 27 27
-10% (30) (30}
Eure/Sterling +10% (82) 961
-10% 90 {1,057)

The impact of translating the net assets of foreign operations into Sterling 1s excluded from the above sensitivity analysis
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Financial instruments continued

Hedges

Cash flow hedges

Interest rate

The Group has taken out interest rate swaps to hedge the exposure to changes in interest rates in both the UK and US In the UK, the Group
has taken out a fixed value interest rate swap of £5 0m 2011 £5 Om) for the period 2 August 2011 to 1 November 2012, whereby it receves
a vanable rate based on 1 manth LIBOR and pays a fixed rate of 2 96% At 31 March 2012, this swap had a negative far value of £76,000
(2011 £141,000} In the US, amortising interest rate swaps were 1aken out for the penied 1 July 2011 to 30 October 2013 in respect of
100% of the US term loans, amorusing at the same rate as the loans At 31 March 2012, the notional amount of these swaps was $1 5m
{2011 $18m) A fixed value swap of $1 5m was also taken out for the same period as a hedge against the revolving credit facility The Group
receives a vanable rate based on 1 month LIBOR an the US swaps and pays a fixed rate of 1 73% A1 31 March 2012 these swaps had a
negative value of £36,000 (2011 £20,000) These hedges are fully effective and, consequently, the full amounts of the changes tn fair value
have been shown in the Statement of Comprehensive Income The total loss recegnised in other comprehensive income in respect of interest
rate swaps was £92,000 {2011 £95,000) A charge of £141,000 (2011 £186,000) was recycled from other comprehensive income to the
income statement

Forward forergn exchange contracts

The Group has taken out fereign currency forward contracts in order to hedge the value of future sales denomtnated in Euros to the value

of €26 1m (2011 €13 Om), future purchases denominated in US Dollars to the value of $1 3m (2011 nil) and future capital expenditure
commitments denominated in Euros to the value of €1 6m (2011 nil) These contracts have matunty dates extending to 30 June 2013

(2011 31 March 2012) The contracts had a positive value of £469,000 at 31 March 2012 (2011 negative value of £420,000) These hedges
are fully effective and, consequently, the full amounts of the changes i far value have been shown in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income The total gain recagrised in other comprehensive income In respect of foreign exchange contracts is £721,000 (2011 loss of
£284,000) A charge of £168,000 (2011 credit of £136,000) was recycled from other comprehensive income to the income statement

Fair value hedges

The Group has also taken out foraign currency forward contracts in order to hedge the value of frade debiors, net of trade creditors,
denominated in Euros Any profit or loss ansing on these contracts 1s posted directly to the income statement At 31 March 2012, there were
forward contracts in place in respect of fair value hedges to buy Sterling and sell Euros to the value of €2 3m (2011 €2 9m) These contracts
had a positive farr value of £5,000 at 31 March 2012 {2011 negative value of £78,000) Gains on fair value hedges amounting to £149,000
(2011 losses of £56,000) are included in the amounts disclosed for net foreign currency differences in Note 3

Capital commitments
31 March 31 March
2012 201
£°000 £'000
Contracted amounts not provided for in these accounts 1,969 3
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23 Obligations under leases and hire purchase contracts
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Future minimuem rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

31 March 31 March

2012 201

£'000 £'000

Not later than one year 804 779
After one year but not more than five years 1,001 1,322
After five years 1,463 1,474
3,358 3575

These commitments include £1,635,000 (2011 £1,673,000) in respect of annual payments of £38,000 relating to a long lease which expires
in 2055 The remaining commitments relate to short term leases of no more than 6 years, mostly in respect of land and buildings

24 Related party transactions
Compensation of key management personnel

The key management personnel comprise the 2 Executive Directors (2011 2) and the Managing Directors of the business units Following the
reorganisation of the business segments, the number of Managing Directors has increased from 3 to 4

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2mz2 2011

£'000 £°000

Short terrn employee benefits 1,413 1,371
Post-employment benefits 52 49
Termination benefits — 154
Share-based payments 185 239
1,650 1,813
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Directors’ Responsibilities Statement

The Directors are respensible for preparing the Directors’ Report
and the finanaial statements in accordance with applicable law and
regulations

Company law requires the Directors 10 prepare financial statements
for each finanoal year Under that law the Directors have elected to
prepare the financal statements in accordance with United Xingdom
Generaily Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting
Standards and applicable law) Under company law the Directors must
not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
gve a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of
the profit or loss of the Company for that penod

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to

o select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently,

o make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable
and prudent,

® state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements and

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis
unless 1t 1s inappropnate to presume that the Company will
continue i business

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records
that are sufficient 1o show and explain the Company's transactions
and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial
staternents comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregulanties
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the
Members of APl Group plc

We have audited the Parent Company financial statements of API
Group plc for the year ended 31 March 2012 which comprise the
Parent Company Balance Sheet and the related Notes 1 to 10

The financial reporting frameweork that has been applied in their
preparation 1s applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards (Umted Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

This report 15 made sclely to the Company’s members, as a body, n
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Cornpanies Act 2006
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assurne responsibility to anyone
other than the Company and the Company's members, as a body, for
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditor

As explained more fully in the Directors’” Responsibilities Statement set
out on page 58, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view Qur responsibility 15 to audit and express an opinion

on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
Iinternational Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's {APB's} Ethscal
Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statemnents are free from matenal
misstatemnent, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the
Parent Company's crcumstances and have been consistently applied
and adequately disclosed the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by the Directors, and the overall presentation of

the financial statements In addition, we read all the financial and
non-finangial information in the Annual Report and Accounts 1o
idenufy matenal inconsistencies with the audited financial statements
If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or
Inconsistencies we consider the imphcations for our report

Opinon on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements

® qgive a true and fair view of the state of the Parent Company's
affairs as at 31 March 2012,

e have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and

e have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Comparmes Act 2006

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinton the information given in the Directors” Report for

the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared 15
consistent with the Parent Company financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where
the Companies Act 2006 requires us 1o report to you If, in our
opinion

e adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent
Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
recewved from branches not wisited by us, or

e the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreemeant
with the accounting records and returns or

e certain disclosures of Directors’ rernuneration specified by law are
not made, or

e we have not received all the information and explanations we
require for our audit

Other matter
We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of API
Group plc for the year ended 31 March 2012

5o € = Y oung Lep
{Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP

Statutory Auditor

Manchester

28 May 2012
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Company Balance Sheet

at 31 March 2012

31 March 31 March
2012 2011
Note £000 £:000
Fixed assets
Investments 2 29,113 6,511
Current assets
Debtors {greater than 1 year) 3 33,073 30,365
Cash at bank and in hand 750 333
33,823 30,698
Creditors — amounts falling due within one year 4 (26,468) {1,161}
Net current assets 7.355 29,537
Total assets less current llabilities 36,468 36,048
Creditors — amounts falltng due after more than one year 5 (8,299) (9,565)
28,169 26,483
Share capital and reserves
Called up share capital 6 767 766
Share premium account 7 7,136 7,136
Other reserves 7 8,816 8,565
Profit and loss account 7 11,450 10,016
Equity Shareholders’ funds 28,169 26,483

Signed on behalf of the Board

Andrew Turner
Director
28 May 2012

Company number 169249
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements

Accounting policies

Accounting convention

The Company’s financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention in accordance with UK GAAP and with the
Companies Act 2006

The Company has taken advantage of the exemnption provided under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to publish its individual
profit and loss account and related notes

The principa! accounting policies adopted by the Company are set out below

Investments in and loans due from subsidianes
Investrnents in and loans due from subsidhanies are stated at cost less any impairment which 1s charged to the profit and loss account

Deferred tax

Deferred tax 1s recognised in respect of all tming differences that have onginated but not reversed at the balance sheet date where
transactions or events have occurred at that date that will resuit in an obligation to pay more or a right to pay less or to receive more, tax,
with the followang exceptions

e provision 1s made for tax on gains ansing from the revaluation {and simiar fair value adjustments) of fixed assets, and gatns on disposal of
fixed assets that have been rolled over into replacement assets, only 1o the extent that, at the balance sheet date, there 1s a binding
agreement to dispose of the assets concerned However, no provision 1s made where, on the basis of all available evidence at the balance
sheet date, 1t 1s more likely than not that the taxable gain will be rolled over into repfacement assets and charged to tax only where the
replacement assets are sold, and

o deferred tax assets are recogrised only to the extent that the Directors consider that 1t 1s more hkely than not that there wll be suitable
taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying tming differences can be deducted

Deferred tax 1s measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which timing differences
reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date

Pensions

In the UK, a defined benefit pension scheme, the APl Group Pension and Life Assurance Scheme was clased to future accrual in December
2008 This was a funded pension scheme for the Company and its UK subsichanes providing benefits based on final pensionable earmings,
funded by the payment of contributions to a separately administered trust fund The defined benefit scheme 1s run on a basis that does not
enable indwvidual companies wathin the Group to identify their share of the underlying assets and liabilities

In accordance with FRS 17, the Company has accounted for the scheme as a defined contribution scherne and has given additional disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements This additional information 1s provided In accordance with International Accounting Standard 19,
'Employee benefits’ The Directors believe that information disclosed in accordance wath that standard 1s not matenally different ta that which
would be disclosed in accordance with FRS 17

The Company and 1ts UK subsidiaries also operate defined contribution schemes All defined contribution scheme costs are charged directly to
the profit and loss account as incurred

Foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and frem the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary
assets and habihties denomimated in foreign currencies are recognised 1n the prodit and loss account
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements

continued

1 Accounting policies continued
Share-based payments
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees 1s measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted and
15 recognised as an expense over the vesting penod, which ends on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitted to the
award Fair value 1s determined by using an appropriate priceng model In valuing equity-settled transactions, ng account 1s taken of any
vesting cenditions, other than conditions finked to the price of the shares of the Company (market conditions)

No expense 15 recogmsed for awards that do not ulimately vest, except for awards where vesting 15 conditional upon market conditions which
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition 1s satisfied, prowded that all other performance conditions are
satisfied

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense 1s calculated, representing the extent to which the vesting penod has
expired and management’s best esumate of the achievement or otherwise of non-market condions and of the number of equity Instruments
that will ultimately vest or, in the case of an instrument subject to market conditions, be treated as vesting as described above The movement
in cumulative expense since the previous balance sheet date is recogrused in the income statement, with a corresponding entry in equity

The financial effect of awards by the Company of options over its equity shares 10 employees of subsidtary undertakings are recorded as an
Increase Ints investment in subsidiaries with a credit to equity equivalent to the cost in the subsidiary undertakings

Employee Benefit Trust (the “Trust™)

The Company has a discrebionary trust established to faclitate the operation of the Company Executive share option schemes and fong term
incentive plans Shares in APi Group plc held by the Trust are deducted from equity as treasury shares and are recognised at cost Amounts
received on exerase of these options are also recognised in equity, wath any difference between proceeds from the exercise of these options
and the original cost being taken to revenue reserves No gain or loss is recognised in the performance statements on the purchase, sale, 1ssue
or cancellation of equity shares

Finanaal instruments

All loans and borrowings are nitially recognised at {air value of the consideration received net of 1ssue costs associated with the borrowing
After mitial recogrution, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost under the effective interest rate
method

The Company’s financial instruments are consolidated with those of the Group and are incorporated into the disclosures in Note 21 to the
Group’s financial statements Accordingly the exempuion under paragraph 2D{b} o! FRS 29 from disclosing the details in the Company

financial statements has been applied

Leases
The costs of operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account in equal instalments over the periods of the leases
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Investments
Subsidiary undertakings

£'000
Cost
At 31 March 2011 6,511
Addiions 22,602
At 31 March 2012 29,113
Additions to investments compnse the cost of subscriptions to share capital in subsidiary companies
Details of the pnnaipal investments of the Company are as fallows
Name of company Country of incorporation Holding
APl Laminates Limited + UK Ordinary shares
APt Foils Holdings Limited # UX Ordinary shares
API Foils Limited *+ UK Ordinary shares
APl Holographics Limited *+ UK Qwdinary shares
API Qverseas Holdings Limited *# ux Ordinary shares
AP! Group Services Limited ' UKk Ordinary shares
APi-Stace Limited ? UK Ordinary shares

AP {USA) Holdings Limited *#
APl Folls, Inc ™+

AP Foils SAS *+

API Foils Pty Limited *+

API Folls New Zealand Limited *+
API Folls Deutschland GmbH *+
AP Foils Itaha srl *+

AP Foills (Asia) Limited +

APl Folie Polska Spzoo +

USA  Common and preferred stocks
USA  Common and preferred stocks

France
Australia
New Zeatand
Germany
Italy

Heng Kong
Poland

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares

Held by subsidtary undertaking
* Operating company
* Intermediate holding company
' Group management company
2 Property holding company

The Company controls 100% of the voting nghts and shares capital of all the above subsidiary companies

All the operating subsidiary undertakings are invalved in the principal actvities of the Group

Communicating brand values
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements

continued
3 Debtors
31 March 31 March
2012 201
£000 £'000
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Amounts due from subsidiary underiakings 33,073 30,365

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings are stated after an impairment provision of £34,000,000 {2011 £34,000,000)

4 Creditors — amounts falling due within one year

31 March 31 March
2012 2011
£000 £'000
Current instalments on bank loans 3,215 631
Corporation tax 600 489
Amounts due 1o subsidiary undertakings 22,600 —
Accruals 53 41
26,468 1161

Corporation tax represents group relief payable

5 Creditors — amounts falling due after more than one year
31 March 31 March
2012 2011
£°000 £:000
Bank loans 8,299 9,565
6 Share capital
Allotted, called up and fully paid

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2012 2011 2012 201
thousands thousands £°000 £000
Ordinary shares of 1p 76,749 76,633 767 766

On 12 December 2011, 115,668 shares of 1p were 1ssued at par for a consideration of £1,000 These shares were acquired by the Company
and transferred to an employee in respect of the exercise of nil cost share options

In the year ended 31 March 2011, 3,000,000 shares were issued to the APl Group plc No 2 Employee Benefit Trust for a consideration of
£30,000 and 3,506,336 shares were issued to Barclays Bank plc in respect of the exercise of warrants for a consideration of £35 000

During the current and previous years, no options were granted over the ordinary shares Full exercise of the options granted under the
Company's share option schemes would result in the 1ssue, not later than September 2018, of nil shares (2011 45,000 shares) at 65 5p and

614,250 shares (2011 1,669,273 shares) at nil cost

Details relating to share options are surnmarised in Notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated finangial statements
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7 Reconciliation of Movements on Equrty

10

Equity Share Other Profit and  Shareholders’

share capital premium reserves  loss Account equity

£:000 £°000 £°000 £°000 £000

Balance at 31 March 2011 766 7.136 8,565 10,016 26,483
Issue of shares 1 —_ — — 1

Shares acquired by the Company — — — (1) (1)

Shares acquired by Employee Benefit Trust — _— (1) — {1
Transferred on exercise of share aptions — —_ 262 {262) —
Share-based payments — — — 185 185
Balance from profit and loss account — — — 1532 1,512
Balance at 31 March 2012 767 7.136 8.816 11,450 28,169

Other reserves
Other reserves comprise the capital redemption reserve £8,846,000 and a deficit of £30 000 (2011 £281,000% In the ESOP reserve

The capital redemption reserve arose from the cancellation of 549,000 preference shares of £1 each in March 1999 and the cancellation of
34,570,000 deferred shares of 24p (£8,297,000) in the year ended 31 March 2009

The ESCP reserve relates to shares held by the APl Group plc No 2 Employee Benefit Trust {the “Trust”), established in 1997 to facilitate the
operation of the Company's Executive share schemes At 31 March 2011 the trust held 58,22 % shares acquired at an average cost of £4 27
and 3,000,000 shares acquired at par value of 1p Dunng the year to 31 March 2012, the trust acquired 34,743 shares for a consideration of
£11,000 Subsequently, 92,964 shares were transferred to an employee in respect of the exerase of nil cost options At 31 March 2012 the
trust held 3,000,000 shares at an average cost of £0 01 per share and a total cost of £30,000 (2011 3,058,221 shares at an average cost of
£0 09 per share and a total cost of £281,000)

Profit attnbutable to members of the Parent Company
A profit of £1,512,000 for the year ended 31 March 2012 (2011 £1,305,000) has been dealt with in the accounts of the Parent Company As
permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company has not presented its own profit and loss account

Fees paid 1o the Auditor n respect of audit services provided to the Company for the period amounted to £5,000 (2011 £5,000)

Contingent habilities
The Company 1s party to a composite banking agreement providing unlimsted guarantees between the Company and rs UK subsidiaries At
31 March 2012, the Group's UK bank facilities totalled £8 2m (2011 £6 9m)

Related party transactions
In accordance with paragraph 3{(c) of FRS 8, the Company has taken advantage of the exemption not to disclose related party transactions
with wholly owned subsidianies
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Financial Record

Eighteen
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended months ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2012 201 2010 2009 2008
£000 £000 £:000 £:000 £:000
Continuing operations
Revenue 113,935 99,963 79,192 87,411 132,906
Operating profit before exceptional items 6,878 5,194 3,266 2,723 592
Exceptional items — — (626) (546} (3,655}
Operating profit/{loss) 6,878 5,194 2,640 2177 (3,063)
Net finance costs {1,819) (2,337} (2.978) (2.425) {4,075}
Profit/lloss) before taxation 5,059 2,857 {338) (248) (7,138)
Tax {expenseycredit (105) (265) 2,804 (967) 488
Profit/(loss) from continuing operations 4,954 2,592 2,466 {1,215} (6,650)
Discontinued operations
Loss from discontinued operations — (4,124) (4,358) (2,169} (1,208)
Profit/(loss) for the year 4,954 {1,532) {1,892) (3,384) (7,858)
Attributable to
Profit/floss) attributable 1o equrty holders of the Parent 4,954 1,980 124 (3,861) (7,995)
{Loss¥profit attnibutable to non-controlling equity interest — (3.512) {2,016) 477 137
Total profit/{loss) for the year 4,954 (1,532) {1,892) (3,384) (7,858)

The comparative figures above have been restated to reflect the presentation of the results of the China business, which was sold i the year
ended 31 March 2011, as a discontinued operation

Basic earnings/(loss} per ordinary share (pence)
from continuing operatiens 67 35 34 7 (15 5)
From total operations 67 27 02 {53) {18 6)

The weighted average number of shares in the previous periods has been adjusted 10 reflect the exercise of warrants at below market price

Net debt (£'000) (3,587) (8,511) (18,527} (14,692} {17,149)
Geanng (%) 17% 56% 107% 56% 62%
Average number of employees — all businesses 540 671 691 789 899
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Financial Calendar

Annual General Meeting
To be held at 10 am, 19 July 2012 at the Royal Thames Yacht Club, Knightsbnidge, London, SW1X 7LF

Reports

Inetz:m Results Announcement for 6 months to 30 September 2012 issued November 2012
Intensim Report for 6 months to 30 September 2012 crculated December 2012

Final Results Announcement for the year ended 31 March 2013 issued June 2013

Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2013 arculated June 2013

Capital Gains Tax
The market value of an ordinary share on 31 March 1982 was 60 5p

Visual enhancement of product and packaging
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Foils

Manufacturing & Distribution Distribution

Livingston, UK New Jersey, USA France Califormia, UsA

AP Foils Limited API Folls Ing APl Folls SAS AP Foils Inc

Firth Road, 329 New Brunswick Avenue, 14-16 Boulevard Arago, 10715 Fulton Wells Avenue,
Houstoun Industnal Estate Rahway Z1 Villemilan Santa Fe Springs

Livingston, West Lothian New Jersey 07065 91320 Wissous Cahforria 90670

EH54 5D
Tel +44(0) 1506 438611

Kansas, USA

APl Foils In¢

3841 Greenway Circle,
Lawrence

Kansas 66046

Tel +1 785 842 7674

Laminates

Manufacturing & Distribution

Tel +1 732 382 6800

Holographics

Manufacturing & Distribution

Poynton, UK

API Larminates Limited
Second Avenue

Poynton Industrial Estate
Poynton

Stockport

Cheshire SK12 1ND

Tel +44 (0} 1625 650500

Created by

Salford, UK

APl Holographics Limited
Astor Road, Eccles New Road,
Salford M50 1BB

Tel +44 {0} 161 789 8131

F et |

-7 eMEeMmETILg

Jonesamlpalmer ", corperate 1
i coininunications |

www jonesandpalmer co uk FI i

Tel +33{1) 69 754321

Germany

AP Foils Deutschland GmbH
Ziegelsirasse 22,
Rednitzhembach D-91126
Tel +499122 630410

Italy

API Folls Itaha S

Zona Industriale Squarzolo,
15046 San Salvatore
Monferrato (Alessandna)
Tel +39(0)131 233617

Poland

APl Fole Polska Sp zo o
Gen L Okulickiego 7/9
05-500 Piaseczno
Warsaw

Tel +48 22 233 1065

Tel +1 562 944 0147

Hong Kong

AP Fouls Asia Lirmited

Urit 1705, 17th Floor,
Tower Two, Ever Gain Plaza,
88 Container Port Road
Kwal Chung, New Territories
Tel +852 3426 4908

Austraha

API Fauls Py Ltd

Urit 10, 197 Power Street,
Glendenning

NSW 2761

Tel +61 29 625 9500

New Zealand

AP Foills New Zealand Ltd

8 Moenier Place, Mt Wellington,
Auckland 1060

Tel +64 9579 9262
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